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Wong King Shiu, Daniel

Non-executive Directors:
Ma Kwok Hung, Warren
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Chan Chi Yuen

Wong King Shiu, Daniel
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Hong Kong:
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Hong Kong
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Hong Kong
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERENWRD M

The board of directors (the “Board”) of China Gamma Group
Limited (the “Company”) announces the annual results of the
Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) for the
financial year ended 31 March 2012.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2012, turnover of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$26,726,000, representing
a decrease of approximately 129% from HK$30,473,000 in
the previous year ended 31 March 2011, mainly due to a
decrease in the turnover from the property development,
rental and sales business amid the slowdown of the property
market in China. Loss from operations for the year amounted
to HK$52,698,000 (2011: HK$26,498,000). Net loss
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the
year increased to HK$56,198,000 (2011: HK$29,203,000).
Included in the 2011 financial results was a gain on disposal
of a subsidiary, It REREFMEREZEFR AR (Beijing Yo
Luan Property Development Company Limited) in February
2011 which amounted to HK$48,924,000. Included in the
2012 financial results was a start-up cost from the Group's
rare resources division and costs related to its first project in
the rare earth refinery and processing business in China which
together amounted to HK$25,787,000 (2011: HK$Nil). After
adjusting for such exceptional changes, the operating results
for the Group's existing business lines have shown substantial
improvements. The Group has not been involved in the
trading of any derivative financial instruments such as equity
or currency accumulators. Loss per share was HK1.76 cents
(2011: HK1.01 cents).

As at 31 March 2012, total assets and net assets of the
Group were HK$1,077,098,000 (2011: HK$204,748,000)
and HK$360,413,000 (2011: HK$105,142,000) respectively.
The increase in total assets and net assets of the Group was
mainly due to the acquisition of a 549% attributable interest in
EFHZ LR TR AR AR (Mianning Mao Yuan Rare Earth
Technology Company Limited) in December 2011. Included in
the total assets of the Group was intangible asset amounted
to HK$533,785,000 (2011: HK$Nil) in relation to technical
know-how technology to convert rare earth concentrates to a
variety of rare earth products, resulting from the acquisition.

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2012.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the financial year under review, the Group has set up
its rare resources division and engaged in the exploration of
opportunities in rare resources projects.

The Group's first rare resources project is related to the
entrance of the Group into the rare earth refinery and
processing business in China which the Group believes, will
become the major core business of the Group.

In addition, the Group is engaged in gamma ray irradiation
services, property development, rental and sales, trading of
building materials and provision of renovation services, and
securities trading and investment.

Rare Resources Business

The Group's rare resources division was set up to explore
and expand into strategic rare resources business with great
potentials and applications in China.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 11
May 2011, the Group proposed to acquire a rare earth refinery
and processing business to broaden the income base of the
Group and increase shareholders’ value. Following the approval
by the shareholders of the acquisition at the special general
meeting held on 8 September 2011, the Group completed
the acquisition of a 54% attributable interest in & % 8% /R #
+RHEHBBRAAE (Mianning Mao Yuan Rare Earth Technology
Company Limited) in December 2011. Through this
acquisition, the Group will be able to capture the opportunities
in the rare earth market in China and this business will
become the major core business of the Group.

Rare earth elements are scarce natural resources which
are essential to certain high technology, green energy and
defense-related technology products. Demand for rare earth
elements has been growing at high single-digit since 2005
with the exception of 2008-2009 when demand shrank
resulting from global financial crisis. In 2011, global rare earth
elements production was about 130,000 tonnes. China is by
far the dominant supplier of rare earth elements, accounting
for over 95% of the global market share while Sichuan
province accounts for 24% to 30% of the country’'s total
production. As the Chinese government took more measures
during the year to restrict exploration, production and export
of rare earth elements to protect this strategic resource,
expectation of reduced supply drove rare earth elements prices
to increase significantly in the second and third quarters of
2011.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERENWRD M

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Rare Resources Business (continued)
EFEXREH LR ABR AR (Mianning Mao Yuan Rare
Earth Technology Company Limited) is one of the largest rare
earth refinery and processing companies in China. It operates
a major rare earth refinery and processing plant situated
in Mianning, Sichuan province with a designed processing
capacity of 10,000 tonnes of rare earth concentrate per
annum. After the completion of the acquisition, the plant
started trial production in February 2012. Turnover generated
from the rare earth refinery and processing business in the
year was approximately HK$6,000 from samples sales which
accounted for approximately 0.02% of the Group's total
turnover.

Separately, on 3 May 2011, the Group entered into a
memorandum of understanding in relation to a proposed
acquisition of a controlling interest in a mining company whose
business scope includes development of vanadium mines and
mining, processing and sale of vanadium. The memorandum
of understanding has expired during the year under review.
The Group, after taking into consideration of numerous factors,
including terms of the agreement, market condition and
economic environment, has decided not to proceed with the
proposed acquisition.

This segment reported a loss of approximately HK$25,787,000
(2011: HK$Nil). This was mainly due to the amortisation of
the intangible asset of the rare earth refinery and processing
business which amounted to HK$13,537,000 (201 1: HK$Nil),
and the operating costs of the refinery as well as the operating
and project development costs of our Group's rare resources
division.

Gamma Ray Irradiation Services

During the financial year ended 31 March 2012, the Group's
gamma ray irradiation business, through J&fEF|R = fHEg R
HiiBR AR (Zibo Liyuan Gamma Ray Technologies Co.
Limited) which is owned as to 80% by the Company, has
recorded a turnover of approximately HK$9,404,000 (2011:
HK$6,966,000) that accounted for approximately 35% of
the Group's total turnover. This segment reported a profit of
approximately HK$ 1,080,000 (2011: HK$297,000). The jump
in operating profit was attributable to an increase in processing
capacity during the vyear, successful marketing strategy and
operating leverage.

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2012
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development, Rental and Sales

Turnover generated from the property development, rental
and sales was approximately HK$16,450,000 for the year
under review (2011: HK$22,385,000). Segment loss was
HK$7,793,000 (2011: HK$23,092,000). The decrease in
turnover was mainly attributable to the slowing down of the
market generally in view of the macro economic control
measures imposed by the Chinese government during the
year as well as the decrease in property price. The decrease
in segmental loss was due to the fact that in last financial year
there were substantial amount of expenses incurred by the
primary land development project held by 1t 7 /&5 th 2 5
ZHMRA7A] (Beijing Yo Luan Property Development Company
Limited) which was disposed of in February 2011.

The Group has an entire interest in a land parcel of
approximately 5,800 square meters located in Phase Il
Phoenix Town, No. 500 Hongjin Avenue, Yubei District,
Chongging, the PRC with a total saleable area of approximately
35,000 square meters mainly for residential purpose. The
Group also has commercial properties including shops and car
park lots located in Phase | and Phase Il at the same location
which were being for sale in the period. Though the residential
project in Yubei District is still at the preliminary stage of
development, we do not rule out the possibilities of divesting
this project if there are any good opportunities.

Trading of Building Materials and Provision of Renovation

Services

The operating environments of building materials trading
and renovation services remained weak during the year
under review. This segment’s turnover decreased 23%
to approximately HK$866,000 (2011: HK$1,122,000)
and suffered a loss of approximately HK$392,000 (2011:
HK$1,523,000), which was mainly attributable to an increase
in cost of sales.

Securities Trading and Investment

During the year under review, the global stock markets
remained volatile amid the influence of European sovereign
debt crisis and concerns over global economic recovery.
Due to both unrealised and realised gains on equity
investments held for trading, this segment reported a profit of
HK$14,999,000 (2011: loss of HK$6,238,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEFNMR DM

PROSPECT

The Group's rare resources division will continue to focus on
the development and explorations of opportunities in the area
of rare resources in China and around the world which the
Group believes, will have strategic applications in China. The
completion of the acquisition of the rare earth refinery and
processing business during current financial year marked the
successful start of our Group's business in this regard. The
Group will continue to deepen and widen its participation in
this strategic rare resources business in the coming future.

As it relates to the rare earth refinery and processing business,
it is expected that the Chinese Government will continue
to consolidate the rare earth industry and restrict industry
output in the coming year. These regulatory policies would
provide more opportunities for qualified rare earth miners and
processors in longer term. In May 2011, the Chinese State
Council issued “Guidelines to Promote Sustainable and Sound
Development of the Rare Earth Industry”. According to the
guidelines, the government commits to industrial reformation,
and announced the suspension of issuance of new production
licenses, cracking down on illegal mining and rare earths
smuggling, and phasing out outdated and polluting mining
practices. With the cracking down of illegal rare earth operators
and smugglers, rare earth product prices are expected to
rebound in the second-half of the year as their disruption to
the market supply will come to an end. The elimination and
consolidation of rare earth operators will improve supply-
demand balance and profitability of the industry.

Meanwhile, demand for rare earth products is expected to
rise steadily, particularly in the fast growing green energy
and high tech segments. Neodymium, one of the light rare
earth elements with applications in permanent magnets, auto
catalysts, petroleum refining and lasers, has been classified by
the US Department of Energy on the critical list and will be in
short supply at least in the coming eight years. The Group is
in production of this rare earth element and is positive on the
outlook of rare earth market.

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2012

Al =

AEBzHEERMPIKEE T TNFAE
ERSETEAERBERRAZIHAERZ
B (ERETELRE2RBERN) - RAM
BEETHKKRBZHRLDRMIERRHE
AKBEEBEZ D E KRN - AEHE
BHERREERARBEBAEE R A LXK
REIEEIREB NS M

M5 EH P B BA SRR FEERH T
TERRHTEREL  SEBIRMTE
BeBMmEE RRENAEMS @ %
FHREBRER/EERM LB RINTE
EEtFZHRE R_Z—FHA HH
BB B R BB B R E M L1T R A 5
BERMETER) - REBZET B
NRITENRE  YEMEFERENNEE
AR FTEBIEERBEM L EN  BS
KB KOS RM RIS - BEEITEIF
EmLREERELEZERNET K&
FUMSHENBIEEASRE HLE
mERBEHARAFETHFLH  HLE
LENNELREEBRSTENONRT TG
KREFEGES -

RIS B LtERZHBRBEMBRIES
(5 Bl B R R IE & 7 IR IR BEIR & = BHRAR
) - (B LTEZ — BRRNKAH
B OTEEH - ARMBREECES) B
B BER B I ARRR IR - ELHERK
NEFRBHERR - AEBEEZH LT
= HWmLImG A RAERERELD -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROSPECT (continued)

Being one of the largest rare earth refinery and processing
companies in China, we will ride on the industrial reformation
to broaden our customers base and to expand market share.
In addition, we will explore the opportunities of forming
strategic partnership with international rare earth players, so as
to leverage on the synergy effects of the refinery technology
know-how and management expertise. We are optimistic that
the Group's rare resources division will make significant and
positive contribution to the Group in the future.

CAPITAL INVESTMENT AND COMMITMENTS

At 31 March 2012, the Group had capital commitments
contracted for but not provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of the purchase of plant and
machinery amounting to approximately HK$678,000.

At 31 March 2011, the Group had no significant capital
commitments.

The Company had no significant capital commitments at both
balance sheet dates.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of HK$18,774,000 (31 March 2011:
HK$19,757,000). Short term bank borrowings, long term
bank and other borrowings, and liability component of
convertible note as at 31 March 2012 were HK$9,864,000
(31 March 2011: HK$Nil), HK$424,850,000 (31 March
2011: HK$9,501,000) and HK$88,848,000 (31 March 2011:
HK$Nil) respectively. The increase in borrowings was mainly
due to the cash used in operating activities and payments
made for acquisition of subsidiaries. The gearing ratio, being
the ratio of the sum of total borrowings and convertible note
to total equity was 145% (31 March 2011: 9%). The liquidity
ratio, being the ratio of current assets over current liabilities,
was 108% as at 31 March 2012 (31 March 2011: 169%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERENWRD M

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 March 2012, the Group's land use rights and certain
property, plant and equipment with carrying amount
of approximately HK$15,885,000 (31 March 2011:
HK$15,877,000) were pledged to a bank to secure the bank
borrowing granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 31 March 2012, the Company had given guarantees to two
lenders in respect of other borrowings utilised by a subsidiary
to an extent of RMB256,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$315,193,000) (2011: HK$Nil). The directors do not
consider it probable that a claim will be made against the
Company under any of the guarantees. The maximum liability
of the Company at 31 March 2012 under the guarantees
by the Company is the aggregate amount of the borrowings
drawn down by the subsidiary. In the opinion of the directors,
the fair value of these guarantees is not significant.

The Company had contingent liabilities in respect of financial
support given to certain subsidiaries which have capital
deficiencies to allow them to continue as a going concern and
to meet their liabilities as and when they fall due.

The Group had no other significant contingent liabilities as at
both balance sheet dates.

SHARE CAPITAL STRUCTURE

418,000,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each were issued and
allotted during the year upon exercise of share options granted
by the Company.

As at 31 March 2012, the total number of issued shares of
the Company was 3,373,681,490. Save as the above, there
was no change in the share capital structure of the Company
during the year under review.

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2012
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 11 May 2011, dtRMMBREEERERAF (Beijing
Gamma Corporate Management Company Limited) ("BGCM"),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company in the PRC, entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with Mr. Hu Zhengzhi,
pursuant to which BGCM has conditionally agreed to purchase
and Mr. Hu has conditionally agreed to disposal of 90%
of the equity interest of EmEAEREFR AR (Yunnan
He Da Investments Company Limited) and sale loan at a
consideration of RMB380,000,000. Details of the transaction
are set out in the Company's announcements dated on 11
May 2011 and 29 December 2011 respectively, and the
circular dated on 24 August 2011. The transaction has been
completed in December 2011. Upon completion, the Group
indirectly holds 90% equity interest in ZFMEREGREAD
A] (Yunnan He Da Investments Company Limited), which in
turn holds 60% equity interest in 2R LRI AR
27] (Mianning Mao Yuan Rare Earth Technology Company
Limited). It follows that the Group owns 549 attributable
interest in REHIRMH LRAR AR (Mianning Mao Yuan
Rare Earth Technology Company Limited).

On 8 March 2011, the Group entered into an agreement
in relation to a proposed acquisition of a vanadium mining
project (the “Proposed Acquisition”). On 3 May 2011, the
parties entered into a memorandum of understanding in
relation to the Proposed Acquisition to replace the said
agreement (the "“MOU"). Details of the MOU and the Proposed
Acquisition are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
3 May 2011. No formal sale and purchase agreement was
entered into, and the MOU has expired during the year.

Save as disclosed herein, the Group had no material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended
31 March 2012.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERENWRD M

LITIGATIONS

On 24 October 2007, Silver Wind International Limited
(“Silver Wind"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a conditional agreement (the “Acquisition
Agreement”) with Stronway Development Limited (“Stronway
Development”), pursuant to which Silver Wind agreed to
acquire from Stronway Development the entire equity
interest in Winmax Asia Investment Limited (“Winmax Asia").
Under the arrangement, Winmax Asia would in turn acquire
the entire equity interest in Beijing Jianxing Real Estate
Development Co. (“Jianxing”) along with Jianxing's standalone
villas development project in Beijing known as “$T2{EE".
The aggregate consideration payable for the acquisition was
RMB433,000,000 which was to be settled in cash, and two
villas. In December 2007, RMB20,000,000 was paid under
the Acquisition Agreement to Stronway Development by Silver
Wind as deposit (the “Deposit”). Details of the acquisition are
set out in the Company's circular dated 14 December 2007.

In April 2008, on the grounds, amongst other things, that the
subject matter under the Acquisition Agreement was frustrated,
Silver Wind decided to terminate the Acquisition Agreement
and, through its legal representative has served a notice of
termination to Stronway Development. In order to protect
the position of Silver Wind and to recover, amongst other
things, the Deposit from Stronway Development, the legal
proceedings were instigated against Stronway Development on
this matter in the High Court of Hong Kong on 15 April 2008.

As at the date hereof, the legal proceedings against Stronway
Development are still pending and there is no significant
development.

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE RISK AND
INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group's transactions are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Renminbi. The Group did not enter into any
foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge against exchange
rates fluctuations. Foreign exchange risk arising from the
normal course of operations is considered to be minimal and
the management will closely monitor the fluctuation in the
currency and take appropriate actions when condition arises.

In terms of the interest rate risk exposures, the Group does not

have any significant interest rate risk as both the borrowings of
the Group and the interest rates currently remain at low levels.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2012, the Group employed 250 employees
(31 March 2011: 57). Remuneration packages are generally
structured by reference to market terms and individual merits.
Salaries are reviewed periodically based on performance
appraisal and other relevant factors. Staff benefits plans
maintained by the Group include medical insurance,
hospitalization scheme, mandatory provident fund and share
option scheme.

Employees in the PRC are remunerated according to
the prevailing market conditions in the locations of their
employments.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2012 (201 1: HK$Nil).

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

A subscription agreement dated 8 March 2011 (the
“Subscription Agreement”) and a supplemental agreement to
the Subscription Agreement dated 3 May 2011 were entered
into between the Company and Mega Market Assets Limited
("Mega Market"), a substantial shareholder of the Company,
pursuant to which, the Company shall issue the 1% unsecured
convertible note to Mega Market with principal amount of
HK$105,000,000 in a term of 3 years (the "Convertible
Note"). The initial convertible price of the Convertible Note
is HK$0.27 per share, subject to adjustment pursuant to
the terms of the Subscription Agreement. Details of the
Subscription Agreement (as amended by the supplemental
agreement) and the Convertible Note are set out in the
Company’s announcement and circular dated 3 May 2011
and 17 June 2011 respectively. The transaction has been
approved in a special general meeting of the Company held on
5 July 2011. The Convertible Note has been issued to Mega
Market on 17 October 2011. There was no movement in the
Convertible Note since issuance and during the year ended
31 March 2012.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERENWRD M

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Corporate Governance Report is included in the Group's
annual report for the year ended 31 March 2012.

Good corporate governance has always been recognized
as vital to the Group's success and to sustain development
of the Group. We commit ourselves to a high standard of
corporate governance and have devoted considerable efforts
to identifying and formulating corporate governance practices
appropriate to the Company’s needs.

The Company has put in place corporate governance practices
to meet the code provisions that are considered to be
relevant to the Group and has complied with most of the
code provisions for the time being in force throughout the
year under review save for certain deviations from the code
provisions, details of which will be explained in the relevant
paragraphs in the Corporate Governance Report. The Company
periodically reviews its corporate governance practices to
ensure that these continue to meet the requirements of the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed with
the management and the Company's external auditors, the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed the auditing, internal control and financial reporting
process including the review of the financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2012.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry
has been made to all the directors and the directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2012.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's listed securities.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt
gratitude to shareholders, customers, suppliers, bankers and
professional advisors for their support of the Company over
the past year and to sincerely thank the staff for their ongoing
dedication and contribution made in the year.

On behalf of the Board

Wong King Shiu, Daniel
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 18 June 2012
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSREEABER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel, aged 52, joined the Board on
13 January 2012. Prior to that, Mr. Wong has been the vice
president of the Group since 2010. He is responsible for the
overall strategic management, development and marketing
of the resources projects. Mr. Wong has over 11 years of
experience in natural resources industry and served as an
executive director in a various natural resources company
which is listed in Hong Kong. He also has extensive experience
in the management and development of natural resources
projects in China.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren, aged 55, joined the Board
on 24 July 2006. He had been an executive director of the
Company since 24 July 2006 and had been redesignated
to non-executive director of the Company with effect from
23 May 2008. Prior to that, Mr. Ma served as an executive
director and a company secretary of a Hong Kong listed
company for over 7 years. He has over 23 years of accounting
experience and is an associate member of both the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mr. Chow Siu Ngor, aged 56, joined the Board on 30 April
2006. He had been an independent non-executive director of
the Company since 30 April 2006 and had been redesignated
to non-executive director of the Company with effect from 20
November 2007. He is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. Mr.
Chow graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong
in 1981 with an honors degree in Social Science. He then
obtained an honors degree in Laws from the University of
Birmingham in England in 1987. Mr. Chow was admitted as a
solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1990 and has
been in private practice since then. Currently, Mr. Chow is a
Partner of King & Wood Mallesons, Solicitors, Hong Kong. He
serves as an independent non-executive director of CCT Tech
International Limited and REXLot Holdings Limited, both are
listed companies in Hong Kong.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen, aged 51, joined the Board on
13 February 2006. He is a practising certified public
accountant in Hong Kong and a chartered accountant in the
United Kingdom. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of both the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Association of Certified Public Accountants and an associate
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. He also serves as an independent non-executive
director of Sino Resources Group Limited, a listed company in
Hong Kong.

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen, aged 45, joined the Board on 30 April
2006. He holds a bachelor degree in Business Administration
and a master of science degree in Corporate Governance
and Directorship. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales. Mr. Chan is a practicing certified public accountant
and has extensive experience in accounting, taxation, financial
management, corporate finance and corporate governance.
He is currently an executive director of Kong Sun Holdings
Limited and Sam Woo Holdings Limited and an independent
non-executive director of Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited,
China Gogreen Assets Investment Limited, China Grand
Forestry Green Resources Group Limited, Media Asia Group
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Rojam Entertainment
Holdings Limited), New Times Energy Corporation Limited
(redesignated from non-executive director with effect from
18 May 2012) and U-RIGHT International Holdings Limited,
all of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Mr. Chan was an executive director of Amax Holdings
Limited from August 2005 to January 2009 and Kong Sun
Holdings Limited from February 2007 to November 2009 and
was an independent non-executive director of Superb Summit
International Timber Company Limited from April 2007 to
June 2010, The Hong Kong Building and Loan Agency Limited
from October 2009 to February 2011 and Richly Field China
Development Limited from February 2009 to August 2010, all
of which are listed companies in Hong Kong.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSREEABER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. Hung Hing Man, aged 41, joined the Board on 31 March
2009. He holds a masters degree in Business Administration
from the University of Western Sydney. He is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and a member of the Society
of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. Mr. Hung is currently
a proprietor of a certified public accountants firm. He has
over 15 years of working experience in corporate finance,
accounting, auditing and taxation sectors. Mr. Hung was an
independent non-executive director of SMI Corporation Limited
from July 2009 to December 2009 and Eternity Investment
Limited from May 2010 to November 2011, and is currently
an independent non-executive director of Madex International
(Holdings) Limited, all of which are listed companies in Hong
Kong.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Chun Lam, aged 39, is the Financial Controller
and Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Chan holds a
bachelor degree of Business Administration in Accounting
with honors from Hong Kong Baptist University. He is a
fellow member of both the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has over 17 years of professional experience
in financial management and auditing.

Mr. Gu Zhong Xiang, aged 70, is the senior engineer of rare
resources division of the Group and is responsible for the sales
and development of rare earth products. He is a Professor-
level Senior Engineer. Mr. Gu graduated from Department of
Modern Chemistry, University of Science and Technology of
China. He has over 40 years of experience in natural resources
industry and specialises in sales, development and analysis
for the rare earth products. He has cooperated with Bureau
of Geology Survey on Non-ferrous Metal of Guangdong
Province (BRA®HE)/D) in the inspection of ion-absorbed-
type rare earth resources in South China. He has involved in
the foundation of several rare earth refinery and processing
enterprises in Shaanxi Province and Sichuan Province of China,
including a Japanese-funded enterprise. During this period, Mr.
Gu engaged in rare earth processing technology development
and product analysis testing. He is also a standing director of
BRPE# £ 1% & (Shaanxi Province Rare Earth Society).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Li Ming Dong, aged 49, is the senior engineer of rare
resources division of the Group and is responsible for the
planning and coordinating the production of the rare earth
refinery business in Xichang. Mr. Li graduated from Department
of Chemistry, Peking University. He has over 23 vyears of
experience in natural resources industry and specialises in
operation and planning for the rare earth refinery.

Mr. Yang Zi Jiang, aged 71, is the director of a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and is responsible for
the evaluation of resources projects, including geology and
exploration assessment, of the Group. Mr. Yang graduated
from Chengdu College of Geology, the PRC. He has over 36
years of experience in geological exploration, and the research
and studies of various kinds of natural resources and metals
including rare earth. Mr. Yang is one of the draftsmen of “# +
BEMEHERE"” (Specifications for rare earth mineral
exploration) issued by the Ministry of Land and Resources of
the People’s Republic of China in 2002.

Mr. Fang Yan Qun, aged 68, is the director of a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and is responsible for the
development and operation of resources projects, including
mineral processing. Mr. Fang graduated from Central South
University, the PRC, major in mineral processing. He has over
44 vyears of experience in natural resources industry and
specialises in processing of various kinds of mineral resources.
He has worked as an engineer, a senior engineer, and
subsequently as a professor-level senior engineer in Wuhan
Iron and Steel (Group) Limited for a period of more than 28
years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERHRE

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance
Report of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2012.

Good corporate governance has always been recognized
as vital to the Group's success and to sustain development
of the Group. We commit ourselves to a high standard of
corporate governance and have devoted considerable efforts
to identifying and formulating corporate governance practices
appropriate to the Company’s needs.

The Company has put in place corporate governance practices
to meet the code provisions of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14
of the Listing Rules as promulgated by The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Group
has complied with most of the code provisions for the time
being in force throughout the year under review save for
certain deviations from the code provisions, details of which
will be explained in the relevant paragraphs in this report.
The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices to ensure that these continue to meet the
requirements of the Code.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the
Company are summarized as follows:

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic
decisions and performances and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising its affairs. In practice, the Board takes
responsibility for decision making in all major matters of
the Company including: the approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, the setting of objectives and overall strategies,
material transactions (in particular those may involve conflict
of interests), appointment of directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. The day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Company are delegated to
the senior executives. Approval has to be obtained from the
Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by these
senior executives and the Board has the full support of them
to discharge its responsibilities.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Responsibilities (continued)

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of the
professional advisers, as and when required, with a view to
ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

Each director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company's expense, upon making request to the Board.

Composition

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance
of skills and experience desirable for effective leadership of the
Company and independence in decision making.

The Company has met the recommended best practice
under the Code for the Board to have at least one-third of its
members comprising independent non-executive directors.

The Board of the Company as at the date of this report
comprises the following directors:

Executive director:
Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel
(Member of Nomination Committee)

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren
Mr. Chow Siu Ngor
(Member of Audit Committee & Remuneration Committee)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen
(Chairman of Audit Committee, Member of
Remuneration Committee & Nomination Committee)
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
(Chairman of Remuneration Committee, Member of
Audit Committee & Nomination Committee)
Mr. Hung Hing Man
(Chairman of Nomination Committee, Member of
Audit Committee & Remuneration Committee)

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

TRERHRE

BEg )

BE(E)
REREZGRRFMAEERRERM
DERSET 2BEFHERTNERZ
BERGE—UERENREXRBERCER
K ARTS -

BREF-RAULEEBATRESTSR

HERBRBUSEER  BRAKAT
HRHE o
# BX

EZQCAKBR TREMBEARRAN
BIORR AR 2 BRI MR 2 T e

ARAENETARNEBEESTEZ
EER EL=DZZ2EFTEK
BIYIFMITES -

EER
BAR

RAAGBZEZGRABREAHRBENTE
==

HITEE
'ERKELE

(leEZE&em8)

FHITEE -

SR L

FNELE
(FGZREHBERFMWEREEHE)

BUFHTEF -

mBREE
(FGZEELE FWERESHK
WEZREKR)

REESTE
(FrWZEELE  F&
WELZREMKER)

LEX L
(lEEZRET/E
HHWEREEHKR)

il

K

/

24

il
X

\r
/

W
n
18

W
I
18
il

A

F& A=W

A

BHE_T-_F-A=t—HIHFE &
EE-ENALTRAUZENR  RERD
—RBUMITES MEPRI 2B
VMITESTRABEEEXER A
BEHAEBUMBEREZEENH -

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K

21



22

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERHRE

THE BOARD (continued)

Composition (continued)

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in the Stock
Exchange's website and all corporate communications issued
by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to
time.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive director of his independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all independent non-executive directors
to be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

Appointment and Succession Planning of Directors
The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of directors are laid down in the Company’s Bye-laws.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.

Code Provision A.4.2 stipulates that all directors appointed
to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election
by shareholders at the first general meeting after their
appointment and that every director, including those appointed
for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years.

Save for Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen, none of the independent non-
executive directors is appointed for a specific term. Pursuant
to the Company's Bye-laws, all directors of the Company,
regardless of his/her term of appointment, if any, are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Whereas pursuant to the Company's Private Act enacted in
Bermuda, managing director of the company shall not be
subject to retirement by rotation.

Under the existing Bye-laws, new director appointed to fill a
casual vacancy shall be subject to re-election by shareholders
at the first general meeting after his/her appointment and all
directors including Chairman (save for Managing Director) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (continued)

Appointment and Succession Planning of Directors
(continued)

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Wong King
Shiu, Daniel, executive director, Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren,
non-executive director, and Mr. Chan Chi Yuen, independent
non-executive director, shall retire and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the 2012 annual general
meeting. Detailed information of the directors standing for
re-election are contained in a circular to be dispatched to the
shareholders of the Company.

Training for Directors

Each newly appointed director received comprehensive
induction on the first occasion of his appointment, so as to
ensure that he has appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and that he is fully aware of
his responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.

The directors have access to seek professional advice on legal
and regulatory developments at the Company's expenses
whenever feel necessary.

Remuneration of Directors

The remuneration committee was set up on 20 July 2006. The
committee was responsible for reviewing the remuneration
policy and packages of the directors and senior executives and
made recommendations about their proposals to the Board
which were determined by reference to the performance
of the individuals and the Group and market practices and
conditions on the basis of retaining and motivating executives
to pursue the growth and development of the Group.
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TRERHRE

THE BOARD (continued)

Board and Board Committee Meetings

Number of Meetings and Directors” Attendance

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals for reviewing and
approving the financial and operating issues, and considering
and approving the overall strategies and policies of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, 7 Board meetings, 2
Audit Committee meetings and 2 Remuneration Committee
meetings were held. There was no Nomination Committee
meeting held during the year ended 31 March 2012 since it
was established on 27 March 2012.

The individual attendance record of each director at the
meetings of the Board, Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2012 is set out
below:

BEg®)

EXZEREEZEEER
BHEBRTRENKEFELERE
FREFSEIARRLEFHEITOR &
RBERT R AR RIEMBLE
BEE  UEERIENRAERRE N
BUR -

HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE &K
NAIBRITEREEZEEH  MATKREER
EEBAMATFHEZEEESR BIREZ
BgR_T—-F=A=-+TtHKIE"
HE-_ZT——F=-ZA=+—HIFERT

- 1B - o A A Ay
EBITRZZEQE:E -

BE-_T—_F=-A=1T-HLFE" &
LEFHRESFE BRZEGRIMNE
Bega @RS MT

Attendance/Number of meetings
entitled to attend

HERY ERETREY
Audit  Remuneration

Name of Directors Board Committee Committee
EEnE Exg ERZEE® FMWZEES
Executive Director HITEE
— Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel —mERkEE 1/1 N/A & F N/A & A

(appointed on 13 January 2012) (R=ZFE——F—F+=HEZF)
— Mr. Ho Chi Ho —AERLE 6/6 N/A 7~ F N/A 7~

(resigned on 13 January 2012) (RZFE——F—HA+=HFET)
Non-executive Directors IHTEE
— Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren -BEELE 7/7 N/A 38 F N/A 738 A
~ Mr. Chow Siu Ngor -FNEEE 7/7 2/2 2/2
Independent Non-executive Directors ~— BV HHTEE
— Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen —EEELE 6/7 2/2 2/2
— Mr. Chan Chi Yuen -RERLE 7/7 2/2 2/2
- Mr. Hung Hing Man —HLEX . 7/7 2/2 2/2
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THE BOARD (continued)

Practices and Conduct of Meetings
Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting
are normally made available to directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors
at least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and
committee meetings, reasonable notices are generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and
reliable information are sent to all directors at least 3 days
before each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the
directors apprised of the latest developments and financial
position of the Company and to enable them to make
informed decisions. All directors are given an opportunity to
include matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings. The
Board and each director also have separate and independent
access to the senior executives in order to ensure that the
directors receive adequate, complete and reliable information
in a timely manner and appropriate briefing on issues arising at
Board meetings.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details
of matters considered and decisions reached are kept by
secretary of the meetings and open for inspection by the
directors.

The Company’s Bye-laws contain provisions requiring directors
to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at
meetings for approving transactions in which such directors or
any of their associates have a material interest.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision A.2.1 of the Code stipulates that the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual.

The Company does not at present have a Chairman nor a
Chief Executive Officer. Nevertheless, the main duties and
responsibilities of a Chairman and a Chief Executive Officer are
currently held by separate individuals with written guidelines
for the division of responsibilities with a view to maintaining
an effective segregation of duties between the management
of the Board and the day-to-day management of the Group's
business and operations.
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TRERHRE

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

(continued)

The Company will continue to review the effectiveness of
the Group's corporate governance structure and consider the
appointment of a Chairman of the Board and a Chief Executive
Officer if candidates with suitable leadership, knowledge, skills
and experience can be identified within or outside the Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's
affairs. All Board committees are established with defined
written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are disclosed in the websites of Stock Exchange
and the Company.

All the members of each Board committee are independent
non-executive directors, executive director and/or
non-executive director and the list of the chairman and
members of each Board committee is set out under
“Composition” of this report.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company's expenses.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 27 March
2012 which comprises three independent non-executive
directors and one executive director. There was no meeting
held during the year ended 31 March 2012.

The main responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
and make recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board to complement the Company's corporate strategy.
The Nomination Committee is also responsible for identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships. The Nomination
Committee shall assess the independence of independent
non-executive directors; and make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or reappointment of directors and
succession planning for directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent
non-executive directors and one non-executive director. Two
meetings were held during the year ended 31 March 2012.

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee
include reviewing, making recommendations on and approving
the remuneration policy and structure and remuneration
packages of the executive directors and the senior executives.
The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for
establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no director
or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration, which remuneration will be determined
by reference to the performance of the individual and the
Group as well as market practice and conditions. The Human
Resources Department is responsible for collection and
administration of the human resources data and making
recommendations to the Remuneration Committee for
consideration. The Remuneration Committee shall consult
the Board and the management of the Company about these
recommendations on remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors and one non-executive director (including
at least one independent non-executive director who
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise). None
of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of
the Company's existing external auditors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@) To review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
qualified accountant, internal auditor or external auditors
before submission to the Board.

To review the relationship with the external auditors
by reference to the work performed by the auditors,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

(c) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company's financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated
procedures.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2012 to review the financial results and
reports, financial reporting and compliance procedures, report
on the Company’s internal control and risk management
review and processes and the re-appointment of the external
auditors.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of external auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management and
the Company’s external auditors the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed the auditing,
internal control and financial reporting process including the
review of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2012.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the directors and the
directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2012.

The Company has not established written guidelines for
securities transactions by employees (the "Employees Written
Guidelines”) who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
price-sensitive information of the Company. Steps are being
taken to adopt the Employees Written Guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code.
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RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports,
price-sensitive announcements and other disclosures required
under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2012.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set
out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 42 to 43
of the annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditors of the
Company in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the year ended 31 March 2012 amounted to
HK$1,100,000 and HK$300,000 respectively.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding
a poll on resolutions at shareholders’ meetings are contained
in the Company’'s Bye-laws. Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of
the Listing Rules, any vote of Shareholders in relation to the
resolutions to be proposed at the general meeting will be
taken by poll. As such, all the resolutions set out in the notice
of the annual general meeting will be voted by poll.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board.

Separate resolutions were proposed at 2011 annual general
meeting on each substantial issue, including the election of
individual directors.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (continued)

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior executives
maintain regular dialogue with institutional investors
and analysts to keep them abreast of the Company's
developments. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner. Investors may write directly to
the Company at the principal place of business in Hong Kong
for any inquiries.

INTERNAL CONTROL

To protect its assets and to ensure the accuracy and reliability
of the financial information that the Company employs in its
business or releases to the public, the Company conducts
regular reviews of the effectiveness of the Group's internal
controls. The scope of these reviews includes, among
others, finance, operations, regulation compliance and risk
management.
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The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 6 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2012
are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 44.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31
March 2012 are set out in note 43 to the financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in investment properties of the Group
during the year are set out in note 16 to the financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

418,000,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each were issued and
allotted during the year upon exercise of share options granted
by the Company.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 31 to the financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive directors:
Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel
(appointed on 13 January 2012)
Mr. Ho Chi Ho
(resigned on 13 January 2012)

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren
Mr. Chow Siu Ngor

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
Mr. Hung Hing Man

In accordance with the Company's Bye-law 86(2), Mr. Wong
King Shiu, Daniel will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-law 87(2), Mr. Ma
Kwok Hung, Warren and Mr. Chan Chi Yuen will respectively
retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2012, the interests of the directors and their
associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations, as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance ("SFQ"), or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long position in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the

Company

Name of Director Type of interest

Number of issued
ordinary shares held
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EERRO HBEROKERER
Z s

RZZE-—Z—F=A=+—H ARARE
EELBREEN ((ESERAEEDN]) E
32 FE 2 ERCMPrAcdk - RIBIR%E
SAEHMEARARRRBRME  EFLK
FEZ7BMBEALRARE REBBEEZ K
o~ B REEE 2R

RAAREBREBEIOIEBLEBERZFA
Percentage of the

issued share capital
of the Company

FREREE®T EARTE BT
EEnR S ER EERYE REBDHL
Wong King Shiu, Daniel Beneficial owner 1,200,000 0.04%
Ak EmfEAA
Ma Kwok Hung, Warren Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.09%
55 B 1 EDEAA
Hung Hing Man Beneficial owner 400,000 0.01%
FLE X BERBEAA
Long position in share options of the Company RAEQXTBREZHR

Percentage of the

Number of share issued share capital

Name of Director Type of interest options held of the Company
iR EERARE#LT

EEHR =R BREHAR RAEB DK

Chan Chi Yuen Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.09%

BREER EnEBA

Chow Siu Ngor Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.09%

P E

EDBEBA

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as at 31 March 2012.

BREXEBEEN R_T—-_F=H
ST B EFIWRFIBBEALHBER
AR A SEERAABEE 2 Bty - HEER
M MEEETHERETAEDIORR -
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SHARE OPTIONS

On 24 April 2002, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “2002 Scheme”) which, unless otherwise
terminated, will remain valid and effective for a period of 10
years from 24 April 2002. At the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 22 August 2011, the Company adopted
a new share option scheme (the “2011 Scheme”) in place
of the 2002 Scheme. Upon the 2011 Scheme becoming
unconditional and effective on 23 August 2011, the 2002
Scheme was terminated on the same date. Nevertheless,
share options granted under the 2002 Scheme prior to
its termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable
in accordance with their terms of issue. Particulars of the
Company's share option scheme are set out in note 32 to the
financial statements.

No share option has been granted during the year ended
31 March 2012. The movements in the share options granted
under the 2002 Scheme during the year ended 31 March

Bl

RZEZ-_FMA-+MAB  KADQFHEH
—BERETE (22 -Ft8)) ' B
BRI —EE _FHEBEE T
TFNAZTHERIFEBRRES - B
BHt+FE RZE——F A+ ZHHE1T
ZEARRBRRBAFRE L KRAIHH—
EFEREE ([ 22 ——F581) AE
RZZEZZFHE RN _ZT——F5H8 &
—E-—FN\AZT=BXAEGERE
Wik —CEEFHERBABAEERILE-
A RZET _F R IERTRBZE
EIRH s ERESFEES WA RER
BATIRR T LATT(E - R AR B AR 5T &5
EERN R KM GE32 o

RBE-ZT-——F=ZA=+—HLFEH
BERHEMBRE RBE-FT——F=
AZ+—RLEFEREBE_FTT_F53E

2012 are shown below: BROBEREZZEESmT
Number of options
BREHE
Weighted average
closing price
of the shares
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Exercise immediately before
Category of 1 April during during during 31 March Dateof  priceper  Exercisable the respective
participant 2011 the year the year the year grant share period exercise date
BRREZAE
H%--% n-% 8k phitd BRARG
SEAEH RA-R ERR Enfife Emg¥ ZA= = TR B8 NEVSUTE
(HKS) (HKS)
(#7) (A7)
Directors
gz
Ma Kwok Hung, Warren 2,500,000 - (2500,000) - 16/09/2009 0.116 16/09/2009- 0219
B 15/09/2012
500,000 - (500,000) - 25/01/2011 0.150  25/01/2011- 0.2511
24/01/2013
Chow Siu Ngor 2,500,000 - - - 2500000 16/09/2009 0.116 16/09/2009- N/A
P0E 15/09/2012 TR
500,000 - - - 500000 25/01/2011 0.150  25/01/2011- N/A
24/01/2013 TR
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued) B
Number of options
BREHE
Weighted average
closing price
of the shares
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Exercise immediately before
Category of 1 April during during during 31 March Dateof  priceper  Exercisable the respective
participant 2011 the year the year the year 2012 grant share period exercise date
BRREZAE
H%--% it St 8k BEix BRARG
SEAER BA-A ERR Enfif ER&H ZA=1-H = TR B8 NEVSUTE
(HKS) (HKS)
(B7) (A7)
Directors
£z
Wong Hoi Kuen 2,500,000 - (2500,000) - - 16/09/2009 0.116 16/09/2009- 0219
Byl 15/09/2012
500,000 - (500,000) - - 25/01/20m1 0.150  25/01/2011- 0.2511
24/01/2013
Chan Chi Yuen 2,500,000 - - - 2500000 16/09/2009 0.116 16/09/2009- N/A
Rk 15/09/2012 TR
500,000 - - - 500000 25/01/2011 0.150  25/01/2011- N/A
24/01/2013 TR
Hung Hing Man 500,000 - (500,000) - - 250172011 0.150  25/01/2011- 0.2511
HEX 240011203
Ho Chi Ho 225,000,000 - (225,000,000) - - 11/05/2009 0075 31/07/2009- 0.1863
(resigned on 13/01/2012) (Note) 10/05/2012
MER(K=F-2F (W)
~A1ZAEE)
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued) B 2
Number of options
BREHE
Weighted average
closing price
of the shares
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Exercise immediately before
Category of 1 April during during during 31 March Dateof  priceper  Exercisable the respective
participant 2011 the year the year the year 2012 grant share period exercise date
BRREZAE
Rog--F R-g-2F 8k phitd BRARG
SEAER RA-R EnR Enfife En%¥ =A=1-A = iR B8 NEVSUTE
(HKS) (HKS)
(#7) (A7)
Others
Hf
Employees 500,000 - (500,000) - - 16/09/2009 0.116 16/09/2009- 0.2195
& 15/09/2012
57,000,000 - (57,000,000) - - 25/01/20m1 0.150  25/01/2011- 0.2511
24/01/2013
Other elighble participants 27,000,000 - - - 27000000  16/09/2009 0.116 16/09/2009- N/A
EfRERZEA 15/09/2012 TR
157,000,000 - (129,000,000) - 28000000  25/01/2011 0.150  25/01/2011- 0.2511
24/01/2013
479,000,000 - (418,000,000) - 61,000,000
Note: Brat -

These 225,000,000 share options are vested in four tranches with (i) #%225,000,00017 B &1 U RSB D ERE - &
20% exercisable on 31 July 2009; (ii) 20% exercisable on the date ~ 1())200 R —EENF+LF=+—Ba17{F :
immediately after the expiry of the 9th month of the date of grant (i.e.  (ii)200% A ZEEH T+ B #I5 AL 18 A fEiw % B 5 (B
11 February 2010); (i) 30% exercisable on the date immediately —Z—ZF = F+—8)A17{E ; (ii)3000A B
after the expiry of the 15th month of the date of grant (i.e. 11 August BERTBHETRAEAEREAH (N _Z—F
2010); and (iv) 30% exercisable on the date immediately after the — F/\A+—H) Al47{F : K (iv)30%%H B EE &
expiry of the 21st month of the date of grant (i.e. 11 February 2011). HB#HFE-t+—@AEREAH (M- ——4F=
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBT SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 March 2012, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO shows that the following shareholders, other than
a director or chief executive, had notified the Company of
relevant interests in the share capital of the Company:

Long position in the ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in
the Company

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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EEREROUBEHRRSF 2EF

B EXRBEES  RABHEEAHER
ARAFEAYEL2EIMNLZHE  HSA
NAEF A FERB AR B S A EMEA
B8 2 BB M

FERR

MRZE-—ZF=A=+—H  BREARAR
BREFABMEGRIEIBKRFEZCIER
RETMAR  FIERR (EFHEMRITR
ABUSN) » BAEARRBRERARAK
Aep 2 ERMEE ¢

RAEQREDEBREECOIBAEERZHFAR

Percentage of the

Number of issued Number of issued share capital

Name of shareholder Type of interest ordinary shares held underlying shares held Total of the Company

ek <) EXRRFIERT

RE#E/ 5% BLEEH ERRYEA frisRBRAEA it [ eNzpil

Chan How Chung, Victor Beneficial owner/interest of 918,147,585 388,388,888 1,307,036,473 38.74%
RzE controlled corporation (Note 1)
EnfiA N/ RiEiEER (Hiti)

Mega Market Assets Limited Beneficial owner 665,097,585 388,888,388 1,053,986,473 31.24%
ERBAA (Note 2)
(Hi2)

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Notes:

1. Mr. Chan How Chung, Victor had a personal interest in
157,550,000 shares, and is taken to be interested in (i)
665,097,585 shares and 388,888,888 underlying shares of
the Company held by Mega Market Assets Limited; and (ii)
95,500,000 shares held by Kingly Profits Corporation. Kingly
Profits Corporation is wholly owned by Smart Ease Corporation,
which in turn, is wholly owned by Mr. Chan.

2. Mega Market Assets Limited was interested in 665,097,585
shares and 388,888,888 underlying shares of the Company
derived from the convertible note in the principal amount of
HK$105,000,000 issued by the Company at an initial conversion
price of HK$0.27 per share. Mega Market Assets Limited is
beneficially wholly owned by Mr. Chan How Chung, Victor. These
interests have been included in the interests held by Mr. Chan
disclosed in this section.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been
notified of any other relevant interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as at 31 March
2012.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

A subscription agreement dated 8 March 2011 (the
“Subscription Agreement”) and a supplemental agreement to
the Subscription Agreement dated 3 May 2011 were entered
into between the Company and Mega Market Assets Limited
("Mega Market"), a substantial shareholder of the Company,
pursuant to which, the Company shall issue the 1% unsecured
convertible note to Mega Market with principal amount of
HK$105,000,000 in a term of 3 years (the “Convertible
Note"). The initial convertible price of the Convertible Note
is HK$0.27 per share, subject to adjustment pursuant to
the terms of the Subscription Agreement. Details of the
Subscription Agreement (as amended by the supplemental
agreement) and the Convertible Note are set out in the
Company's announcement and circular dated 3 May 2011
and 17 June 2011 respectively. The transaction has been
approved in a special general meeting of the Company held on
5 July 2011. The Convertible Note has been issued to Mega
Market on 17 October 2011. There was no movement in the
Convertible Note since issuance and during the year ended 31
March 2012.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Apart from the transactions as disclosed in Note 40 to the
financial statements, no other contracts of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate turnover attributable to the
Group's five largest customers were less than 37% of the
Group's turnover for the year. Purchases from the Group's five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 79% of the total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 48%.

None of the directors, or any of their associates or any other
shareholders, which, to the best knowledge of the directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital,
had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest suppliers
during the year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's listed securities.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set
up by the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence. The emoluments of the directors of the Company
are decided by the Board, as authorized by the shareholders
at the annual general meeting, having regard to the Group's
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to directors and eligible employees, details of which
are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Good corporate governance has always been recognized
as vital to the Group's success and to sustain development
of the Group. We commit ourselves to a high standard of
corporate governance and have devoted considerable efforts
to identifying and formulating corporate governance practices
appropriate to the Company’s need.

The Company has put in place corporate governance practices
to meet the code provisions that are considered to be
relevant to the Group and has complied with most of the
code provisions for the time being in force throughout the
year under review save for certain deviations from the code
provisions, details of which will be explained in the relevant
paragraphs in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
20 to 30. The Company periodically reviews its corporate
governance practices to ensure that these continue to meet
the requirements of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the year ended 31 March 2012.

AUDITOR

Ting Ho Kwan & Chan retire and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
re-appointment of Ting Ho Kwan & Chan as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Wong King Shiu, Daniel
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 18 June 2012
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B M % BE | E

TING HO KWAN & CHAN
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS (PRACITSING)

9th Floor, Tung Ning Building
249-253 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA GAMMA GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Gamma Group Limited (the “Company”) set out on
pages 44 to 162, which comprise the consolidated and the
Company balance sheets as at 31 March 2012, and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s presentation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and
the Group as at 31 March 2012 and of the loss and cash flows
of the Group for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ting Ho Kwan & Chan
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Hong Kong, 18 June 2012
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

e WaE xR

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

Turnover
Other revenue and gains, net

Cost of sales

Administrative expenses

Impairment losses on
other receivables

Loss from operations

Finance costs

Loss before taxation
Taxation

Loss for the year

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders

of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Loss per share for loss attributable
to equity shareholders
of the Company

— Basic

— Diluted

The notes on pages 52 to 162 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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REEER
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Norj

2012 2011

—E-——F —E——fF

NOTES HK$' 000 HK$"000
B 5 FTERT FHEIT
7 26,726 30,473
7 22,590 44,430
49,316 74,903
9 (30,957) (25,777)
(71,057) (74,278)
- (1,346)
(52,698) (26,498)
8 (14,232) (558)
9 (66,930) (27,056)
11 2,406 (3,684)
(64,524) (30,740)
12 (56,198) (29,203)
(8,326) (1,537)
(64,524) (30,740)

14

(1.76) centsfll (1.01) centsfll

(1.76) centsfll (1.01) centsfll

ENEREFIAZMERMKEHLEE M

Bz 2z — 810 -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income:
Exchange differences — net
movement in exchange reserve

Total comprehensive expenses
for the year

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the
Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive expenses
for the year

The notes on pages 52 to 162 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

REEEIE
Htt2mkas -

30—
ELEE

AREE2HE AR

LU A+ B4 :
iN/NEETE g

FEIZ B i 2n

AEE2E X AR

SEERHEWE R

For the year ended 31 March 2012

BE-ZE-——F=ZHA=+—HLEE

2012 2011
—g-—f —T——%

NOTE HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
B 7 FET FAT
(64,524) (30,740)

13 3,204 6,081
(61,320) (24,659)

(52,709) (22,880)

(8,611) (1,779)

(61,320) (24,659)

HENEREFIQAEZMEREERANM

BwE 2 — 80

b B

fl 3% K B & R ~ 3

o

2012 %
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
REEERER

At 31 March 2012
R=ZB-—=—%=A=+—H

2012 2011
—E-——F —E——fF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$' 000
M 5T FET FET
Non-current Assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y E BN S 15 141,156 33,804
Land use rights T Hb {5 A A 17 17,627 12,201
Goodwill EES 18 195,129 23,592
Intangible asset BEE 19 533,785 -
887,697 69,597
Current Assets REBEE
Inventories 78 21 44,599 32,777
Properties under development BRPYE 22 43,777 41,897
Trade and other receivables R E 5 K& H b BR I8 23 42,645 35,198
Financial assets at fair value ERAFEFAEBERZ
through profit or loss TRMEE 24 39,606 5,522
Cash and cash equivalents HeMIREeFRHEIER 25 18,774 19,757
189,401 135,151
Current Liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 & H th AR 18 26 165,134 59,056
Amount due to a non-controlling  FETKIE A 7]
shareholder of a subsidiary FET2E IS A% B FR I 27 - 20,827
Current taxation payable JE 1t 7K B A K - 79
Bank and other borrowings BT REMEER 28 9,864 =
174,998 79,962
Net Current Assets REEEFE 14,403 55,189
Non-current Liabilities FRBEE
Amount due to a non-controlling &I K B A &) 3E4% %
shareholder of a subsidiary % 3R #k 18 27 20,330 —
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 28 424,850 9,501
Convertible note Al AR E 4R 29 88,848 =
Deferred taxation i JE T I8 30 7,659 10,143
541,687 19,644
Net Assets EEFE 360,413 105,142

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2012



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Equity -

Capital and reserves attributable 72 )% ik R B (L
to the Company’s equity BEXNf#E:
shareholders:

Share capital LN

Reserves fE
Non-controlling interests JEVEAR
Total Equity REEAE

The financial statements on pages 44 to 162 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 June
2012 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wong King Shiu, Daniel
=R
DIRECTOR
BE

The notes on pages 52 to 162 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

LEEEREX

At 31 March 2012
R-E-Z_%=ZA=1—-H

2012 2011

—E——F —T——fF

NOTE HK$'000 HK$"000
B 5 TERT FHEIT
31 33,737 29,557
77,400 70,749

111,137 100,306

249,276 4,836

360,413 105,142

BEed N _E——EXATN\BHER
RN REIUMESFI2B ZMBHREK - I
AU TATRERESTEHZ

Ma Kwok Hung, Warren
BSE%®
DIRECTOR
=

HNEREFIRBEZWNTAMRELREY
BwRERZ —2H -

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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BALANCE SHEET
EEREER

At 31 March 2012
R=ZB-—=—%=A=+—H

Non-current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Interests in subsidiaries

Current Assets
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Current Liabilities
Other payables

Net Current Liabilities

Non-current Liabilities

Amounts due to subsidiaries
Convertible note

Net Assets

Capital and Reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Total Equity

FRBEE
ME - BERRE
INEEN NI o

RBEE
H il B U AR TR

RAekREEFRAHA

RBAEE
H A & R IR

REBREFE
FRBRE
&1 Ff /88 1% R IR

QY&

BEEFE
BEXRHE
@
fefi 178

AR

Wong King Shiu, Daniel

'K

DIRECTOR

EF

The notes on pages 52 to 162 are an integral part of these

financial statements.

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2012

As restated

rE5

2012 2011

—E——fF —F——%F

NOTES HK$'000 HK$' 000
=2 TET FHET
15 139 185
20 250,925 233,359
251,064 233,544

23 72 53
25 6,611 508
6,683 561

26 8,348 9,622
(1,665) (9,061)

20 55,277 148,694
29 88,848 =
144,125 148,694

105,274 75,789

31 33,737 29,557
33 71,537 46,232
105,274 75,789

Ma Kwok Hung, Warren
DIRECTOR
BFE

N F52EF 1628 2 M i B UL FHH ],

R -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attrbutable to equity shareholders of the Company

S A JEE 3L 4
MERRBEX
For the year ended 31 March 2012
BE-ZE-Z-F=ZA=+—-HLFE

Balance at 1 Apil 2010

Loss for the year

Other comprehiensive income
Share options granted

Erercise of share options

Transfer on [apse of share options

Balance at 31 March 2011
and 1 Apr 2011

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
Acquistion of subsidiares
Evercise of share options

Convertble note - equity componen

net of transaction costs

Balance at 31 March 2012

R-2-2EMA-Hz&R
FERBR

EB2ENA

RitEhE

fikBRE
Ehexines

N=5-—Fzf=1-A
R=5--%Rf-A
bi:

KEEEE

WoF-—E=f=1-A
i

KRARERREL

Share  Capital ~ Convertible Share Non-

Share  premium  redemption note  opfions  Exchange  Special Contributed Accumulated controlling
apitl  account  reseve  reseve  feseve  feseve  feseve  sumplus [osses Total  interests Total

Rt Ex  TBR  BBRE FER
Rx BBk BORE  RERE fif  EiRR  4ARE AARB  ZiEE a8 s 88
HK§'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 - HKS'000  HKS'000
Thr Tér TAn  TEx  TEn TR TEr  TEr  TAn  TEn TR TEn
BT B9 13678 - g W 816 68496 (1303114 102580 665 109157
- - - - - - - - @) (57 ()
- - - - -6 - - - BB ) 60
- - - -8R - - - - -8
B0 1370 - -0 - - - - - R
- - - - () - - - T - - -
29557 605,539 13,878 - 11,156 6,625 78176 684966 (1,329591) 100,306 483 105,142
- - - = - - - - 61 (619  (63%)  (e45)
= = = = = 3489 = = - 3,489 (289) 3,204
- - - - - - - - - - 253051 253,051
4180 50,558 = = (9550) = = - - 45,188 - 45,188
- - - 18,352 - - - - - 18,352 - 18,352
33731 656097 13,878 18,352 1,606 10,114 78176 684966 (1385789) 111,137 249276 360413

The notes on pages 52 to 162 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

FENFE2EFI2AEZME R EHEARM

BHER 2 — &0 °

o

i 3%

£ 8 8&5 R 2

8 2012%#%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= A 3 =2
HEHERER
For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-——F=A=+—-HLEFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES RESTE)

Loss from operations LEEE

Adjustments for: KT5|EE FHE -
Interest income B A
Dividend income A% B A

ME - BERREITE

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment

Amortisation of land use rights =+ 3 (50 AR R B

Amortisation of intangible asset m A E S

Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BEKERE
plant and equipment pd) SF =

Gain on disposal of investment HEREWE 2 W

properties
Net unrealised gains on financial

BAFEFABRZ

assets at fair value through CREEZARER
profit or loss Yo 25 % 58
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMNE AR M
Other receivables written off H fth, & L 7K T i 3

Fair value gain on investment REMEZ R FERE
properties

Share-based payment VAR A7 /3 2588 2 < 3R

Exchange differences fEH Z5
Operating cash outflows before ZEESBEHA 2K
movements in working capital R &FHH
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 7% (340) /& 4
Decrease/(increase) in trade and B E 5 K E A ERIB
other receivables A, (38 n)
(Increase)/decrease in financial BRAVTEFABRZZEH
assets at fair value BEZ (EN R

through profit or loss
Decrease in properties held for sale # {1 & #) 35

(Decrease)/increase in trade and B E 5 K EALIRIB
other payables CRLA) /18

CASH USED IN OPERATION RETHFAARE

Overseas tax paid B8N IR

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING K& ZEIffHREEE
ACTIVITIES

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2012

NOTES
B 5E

As restated

RE5

2012 2011
=E-ZF —ZE——F
HK$'000 HK$"000
TR TET
(52,698) (26,498)
(27) (24)
(249) -
6,147 3,715
508 457
13,537 =

1 14
- (8
(9,486) (1,018)

- (48,924)

- 1,346
- (1,098)

- 8,362
(1,152) 90
(43,419) (63,586)
(12,795) 349
5,190 (24,347)
(24,598) 3,175
24,717 21,384
(49,716) 29,702
(100,621) (33,323)
(512) (169)
(101,133) (33,492)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

INVESTING ACTIVITIES BE®
Interest received B U B
Dividend received fi% B
Payment for the purchase of BED

property, plant and equipment B

Acquisition of subsidiaries iz i Bt

Addition of investment properties %E&

Addition of properties under NE
development

Proceeds from disposal of tH 5 Bf

a subsidiary

Proceeds from disposal of property, & ¥ % - &= &%
plant and equipment FT18 3R

Net proceeds from disposal of MR AR e
investment properties RIEF

NET CASH (USED IN)/ REZ® (FR) .~
GENERATED FROM EXREFE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEEH

New bank borrowing raised ILRITEE

Proceeds on exercise of share 1T BB AR P15 RKIA
options

New other borrowings raised MILHMEE

Net proceeds from issue of BTRAMRERZ G
convertible note /TJ\IE)%%E

(Repayment to)/advance from BE) REWBEQ
a non-controlling shareholder 3'5?7“ P B SR B R
of a subsidiary

Repayment of bank borrowing BERTEE

Interest paid ERHE

NET CASH GENERATED FROM METEMBRESFE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN fﬁﬁ&ﬁ%%%ﬁlﬁ B
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (Ei2) /& in#&

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS SHZRERALEH
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR =

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXR#BH ¥ E
RATE CHANGES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS H#&ZRERFALEH
AT END OF THE YEAR HH

The notes on pages 52 to 162 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

Lo

X

% BEK
2K
NG
=RYES
kS

NG ECE O

z-;-_- PAN ==

b3 N = Eﬁ ﬁ/}lbi %:Z

For the year ended 31 March 2012
BE_Z-—_F=A=1+—-HILFE

As restated

K&
2012 2011
—E—-—=F =z ——

NOTES HK$'000 HK$ 000
ir=d TERT FET
7 27 24
7 249 =
15 (5,176) (14,036)
34 (468,478) -
- (15)
(276) 24)

35 - 44,482
268 7

- 193

(473,386) 30,631

- 9,501

45,188 12,282

424,850 -

104,630 =

(497) 1,842
- (7,720)
(1,067) (558)

573,104 15,347

(1,415) 12,486

19,757 7,218

432 53

25 18,774 19,757

HNEREFIRE 2T ANELZEA Y
EREKR 2 —2pH -

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R 3R B &

For the year ended 31 March 2012

&

1.

EZE-ZFZHA=T-BLEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange").

The Company is an investment holding company. The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon
House, Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The
principal place of business of the Group is located at
Suite 2602, 26/F., Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The principal activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 43.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"), which also include Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS") and Interpretations
(“Int") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
financial assets which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 5.

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2012
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS

that are first effective for the current accounting period of

the Group as follows:

HKAS 24 (revised 2009) Related party disclosures

Improvements to HKFRSs (2010)

HK(IFRIC) — Int-19 Extinguishing financial liabilities
with equity instruments

HKAS 19 — The limit on a
defined benefit asset,
minimum funding
requirements and their
interaction — Prepayments
of a minimum funding
requirement

Amendments to
HK(IFRIC) - Int-14

Note 4 summarise the accounting policies of the
Group. The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. The amendments to HK(IFRIC) — Int-14
have had no material impact on the Group's financial
statements as the Group does not have such minimum
funding requirement. HK(IFRIC) — Int-19 has not yet had
a material impact on the Group's financial statements
as these changes will first be effective as and when the
Group enters a relevant transaction (for example, a debt
for equity swap).

Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

MHEBREREE &)

B EMAGEREME TRAZHE
ARG HIEE REMZ ] LEER]
B BT RELER

BB G ERF245%
(ZZTNAFLEE)
BRARBREEANSE(ZF—FF)

BRETRE

B (BARHBEHRE URATAKSH
“ABZEe)-2E oAl
E195

5 (BRMBEERE BAELHENTIR

REZEY)-RE
F145MIER]

~HEBRRMNEE
2B RIETE
BREMECHE
BER-SEIE
ERBIFE

Y FE4Bt i AR B 2 T HUR - AR E
TEERARAS HEDRERZE
mxrERgRE - B (BRMBHRE
BEZEe) REF14RNETEA
SEUVBHRARABEATE  REA
EAEEYEAFREIEER &
B (ERMBERERBEZES) 28
FIPRINDAREAREZ M BERREE
ERRE MRFEESERIANAE
BT —RAERR S (B EER) &

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R 3R B &

For the year ended 31 March 2012

&

2.

EZE-ZFZHA=T-BLEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

The impacts of other developments are discussed below:

HKAS 24 (revised 2009) revises the definition of a
related party. As a result, the Group has re-assessed the
identification of related parties and concluded that the
revised definition does not have any material impact on
the Group's related party disclosures in the current and
previous accounting periods. HKAS 24 (revised 2009)
also introduces modified disclosure requirements for
government-related entities. This does not impact the
Group because the Group is not a government-related
entity.

Improvements to HKFRSs (2010) omnibus standard
introduces a number of amendments to the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 7, Financial instruments:
Disclosures. The disclosures about the Group's financial
instruments in Note 39 have been conformed to the
amended disclosure requirements. These amendments
do not have any material impact on the classification,
recognition and measurements of the amounts recognised
in the financial statements in the current and previous
accounting periods.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new
standards and interpretations which are not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2012 and which have not
been early adopted in these financial statements.

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2012
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

3. BE-2—_—H=A=+—H
LEFEEEMERERZE
Al ERRREZARSE
(%)

3. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2012 (continued)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
AT B8k 2 &
Fiin 2 gt R AR

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial instruments: 1 July 2011
Disclosures — Transfers of financial assets
BEMBREEANETRNES PRIAE: BRE-BFEoREE —Z——FtH—H

Amendments to HKFRS 7

Financial instruments: Disclosures — Offsetting
financial assets and financial liabilities

1 January 2013

BERMBREENSTROBE ERIA: RE-HHSREERERER —2-=%—-H—H

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income taxes — Deferred tax: Recovery of underlying assets 1 January 2012

BAGTENE12ROE R - ELHE  KEEEEE —E-—_f—-F—H

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of financial statements — Presentation 1 July 2012
of items of other comprehensive income

BB Gt ERE1RMNER 2 BHRR -2 EL2ERAER —E-_%+A-H

Amendments to HKAS 32

Financial instruments: Presentation — Offsetting
financial assets and financial liabilities

1 January 2014

BRI EREI2ROEBE ERIA: 2V -HHEREERERER —T-mE-A—H
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments 1 January 2015
BREBREEREIR SRMIA “T-1%—-A—-H
HKFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements 1 January 2013
BRI BREERE 105 FaMB#RER —2-=%—-H—H
HKFRS 11 Joint arrangements 1 January 2013
BRRBHREENSER A B “E-=Zf-A—H
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities 1 January 2013
BERMBREERE25R RENEMER ER —E-=%-H—-H
HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement 1 January 2013
BRMBREERE 350 AVEFTE —E-=Ff-Hf—H
HKAS 19 (2011) Employee benefits 1 January 2013
ERGHERE IR (ZE——%) EERA —T-=%-R—H
HKAS 27 (2011) Separate financial statements 1 January 2013
BERGHENE2IR(ZT——F) BUMBRE —E-=%¥-A—-H
HKAS 28 (2011) Investments in associates and joint ventures 1 January 2013
BRGMENESE (T ——F) RBERARGELEZRE —2-=%—-H—H

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments, new standards
and new interpretations is expected to be in the period
of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact

ELXBATE -

on the Group's results of operations and financial position.

A B R S5 HT - HT AR
REBYERRABEFEL S
MESAIE - 4% BABRAETA
T 4 17K B 7 4 A A R B A AAOR

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % 8RR MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out
below:

(a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 March.

The results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
income statement from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.

(b) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
Controls exist when the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account.

The Group uses the acquisition method of
accounting to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued
by the Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date.

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2012
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. T E€HHEME &)

POLICIES (continued)

(b) 8 2 = R 3k 12 AR A 35 (4

(b) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions and any
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as
a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests
either at fair value or at their proportionate share of
the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders
of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the
results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated income statement and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as an allocation
of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests
and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loan
from holders of non-controlling interests and other
contractual obligations towards these holders are
presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheet in accordance with Notes 4(0) or 4(p)
depending on the nature of the liability.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

©

(continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made
to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset (see Note 4(h)).

In the Company's balance sheet, an investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss
(see Note 4(l)), unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale). The results of the
subsidiary are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received and receivables.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
fair value of the Group's previously held equity
interest in the acquiree; over

(i) the Group's interest in the net fair value of

the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities

measured as at the acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

©

(d)

Goodwill (continued)

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on
a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business
combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit,
or groups of cash-generating units, that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination and is
tested annually for impairment (see Note 4(l)).

On disposal of a cash-generating unit during the year,
any attributable amount of the purchased goodwill
is included in the calculation of profit or loss on
disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Expenditure on research activities is recognised
as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred. Expenditure on development activities is
capitalised if the product or process is technically
and commercially feasible and the Group has
sufficient resources and the intention to complete
development. The expenditure capitalised includes
the cost of materials, direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing
costs, where applicable. Capitalised development
costs are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses. Other development
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the
Group are stated in the balance sheet at cost less
accumulated amortisation (where the estimated
useful life is finite) and impairment losses.
Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and
brands is recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

)

(continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful
lives is charged to profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives.
Technical know-how for separation of rare resources
concentrates is amortised from the date it is available
for use and its estimated useful life is 10 years.

Both the period and method of amortisation are
reviewed annually.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also
include transfers from equity of any gains/losses
on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
are expensed in profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. T E€HHEME &)

POLICIES (continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (continued) (e) ME -BERRZEE)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
residual value, if any, on a straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold buildings 20 years
Leasehold land and buildings 30 years
Leasehold improvements 2 years

Plant and machinery 3 — 20 years
Motor vehicles 4 — 8 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 — 10 years

Construction in progress represents buildings,
structures, plant and machinery and other fixed
assets under construction or installation and is
stated at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
direct costs of construction, installation and testing
as well as capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction or
installation. Construction in progress is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment or investment properties when completed
and ready for use.

The assets' residual values (if any) and useful lives
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date. An item of property, plant and
equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. The gain or
loss on derecognition of the asset, calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item, is included in profit
or loss in the period the item is derecognised.

An asset's carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f) Land use rights
Land use rights are lump sum upfront payments
to acquire long-term interest in lessee-occupied
properties. Land use rights relating to buildings of the
Group are stated at cost and are amortised over the
period of the lease on the straight-line basis to profit
or loss.

(g) Leases
(1) Operating lease (both as the lessee or the

lessor)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks
and rewards of ownership are retained by the
lessor are classified as operating leases. Where
the Group is the lessee, payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) are expensed in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by
the Group under operating leases are included
in non-current assets and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to profit
or loss in a straight line basis over the lease
period.

(i) Finance lease (as the lessee)

Leases of assets where the Group has
substantially obtained all the risks and rewards
of ownership are classified as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s
commencement at the lower of the fair value
of the leased property and the present value
of the minimum lease payments. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and
finance charges so as to achieve a constant
rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in current and non-current
obligation under a finance lease. The interest
element of the finance cost is recognised in
profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each
period. The investment properties acquired
under finance leases are carried at their fair
value, while the property, plant and equipment
acquired under finance leases are depreciated
over the shorter of the useful lives of the assets
or the lease terms.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. T E€HHEME &)

POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial assets
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date when the Group

(h) eREE
MAEEAFBERHEERE -
THRENHESREERTNR

commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments
are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction
costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair
value through profit or loss are initially recognised at
fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the
statement of comprehensive income. At each balance
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sheet date, the Group assesses whether there is any BRTeREEXIEMEEMR
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group B - R AR IR E A FE AR K
of financial assets is impaired, such as a significant or RHTHREEREKAE -HEA
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment A BELRRAREHERER
in an equity investment below its costs. Financial BNz EREBEERY T ERE
assets other than investments in subsidiaries, E—TDBEETHERNAGTE -

associates and jointly controlled entities are further

categorised into the following classifications for the

measurement after initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or () BRFEAAEDZHE
loss E
Investments in securities held for trading are REBEBEEFREDERR
classified as financial assets at fair value through MBEEETMEATFESA
profit or loss included in current assets and BRZemEEREATE
are stated in the balance sheet at fair value. MREEBBRIK - RIERE
Derivatives are also categorised as held for EEEARE  SRIOTAT
trading unless they are designated as hedges. BT ERFHEEE - BAQ
Gain or loss on the fair value changes of FEGFABERZEMEELZ
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ANEEEH 7 BAERBEREA
is recognised in profit or loss. W o
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial assets (continued)

0)

(i) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method. They arise when the Group provides
money, goods or services directly to a debtor
with no intention of trading the receivable.
They are included in current assets, except
for maturities greater than 12 months after
the balance sheet date which are classified
as non-current assets. The Group's loans
and receivables comprise “Trade and other
receivables” and “Cash and cash equivalents” in
the consolidated balance sheet.

Inventories

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost includes the
acquisition cost, architect's fees and other direct costs
attributable to such properties.

Rare resources and building materials

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average cost formula and comprises all cost of
purchase, cost of conversion and other costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Net realisable value is determined on
the basis of anticipated sale proceeds less estimated
selling expenses.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

0

Q)

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable
value is determined by reference to estimated sales
proceeds of the properties sold in the ordinary course
of business less costs to complete development and
estimated selling expenses.

Development cost of properties comprises land
use rights, construction costs, borrowing costs and
professional fees as incurred during the development
period. On completion, all development costs of the
properties are transferred to completed properties
held for sale as inventories.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at
fair value and, after initial recognition, at amortised
cost less any allowance for impairment of bad and
doubtful debts, except for the following receivables:

— interest-free loans made to related parties
without any fixed repayment terms or the
effect of discounting being immaterial, that
are measured at cost less any allowance for
impairment of bad and doubtful debts; and

— short term receivables with no stated interest
rate and the effect of discounting being
immaterial, that are measured at their original
invoiced amount less any allowance for
impairment of bad and doubtful debts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R 3R B &

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Impairment of assets

0,

Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables

Investment in equity securities (other than
investments in subsidiaries: see note (ii) below)
and other current and non-current receivables
that are stated at cost or amortised cost or
are classified as available-for-sale securities
are reviewed at each balance sheet date to
determine whether there is objective evidence
of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable data that comes to the
attention of the Group about one or more of the
following loss events:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

a breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

— a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument below its cost.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Impairment of assets (continued)

0,

Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (continued)

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss
is determined and recognised as follows:

— For investments in subsidiaries, the
impairment loss is measured by comparing
the recoverable amount of the investment
with its carrying amount in accordance
with Note 4(I)(ii). The impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount in accordance with
Note 4(1)(ii).

— For unquoted equity securities carried at
cost, the impairment loss is measured as
the difference between the carrying amount
of the financial asset and the estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial
asset where the effect of discounting is
material. Impairment losses for equity
securities are not reversed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R 3R B &

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Impairment of assets (continued)
() Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (continued)

For trade and other current receivables
and other financial assets carried at
amortised cost, the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset's original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition
of these assets), where the effect of
discounting is material. This assessment
is made collectively where financial assets
carried at amortised cost share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due
status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows
for financial assets which are assessed
for impairment collectively are based on
historical loss experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics similar to the
collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of
an impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised, the impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in
the asset's carrying amount exceeding that
which would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

0)
0,

(ii)

Impairment of assets (continued)

Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (continued)

Impairment losses are written off against
the corresponding assets directly, except for
impairment losses recognised in respect of
trade debtors included within trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered
doubtful but not remote. In this case, the
allowance for impairment of bad and doubtful
debts are recorded using an allowance account.
When the Group is satisfied that recovery is
remote, the amount considered irrecoverable
is written off against trade debtors and bills
receivable directly and any amounts held in
the allowance account relating to that debt are
reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged to the allowance account
are reversed against the allowance account.
Other changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off directly are recognised in profit or
loss.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at each balance sheet date to identify
indicators that the following assets may be
impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

— property, plant and equipment (other than
properties carried at revalued amounts);

— pre-paid interests in land use rights
classified as being held under an operating
lease;

— intangible assets; and

—  goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % 8RR MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

() Impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of other assets (continued)
If any such indication exists, the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. In addition,
for goodwill, intangible assets that are not yet
available for use and intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is
estimated annually whether or not there is any

indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its net selling price and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of
time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash flows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. cash-generated unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss whenever the carrying amount of an
asset, or the cash-generating unit to which
it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generated units (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair
value less costs to sell, or value in use, if
determinable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets (continued)
—  Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill,
an impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is
not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset's carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited
to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R 3R B &

For the year ended 31 March 2012

BE_Z—

“HEZRA=+t—-BLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(n)

(0)

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company's
equity share capital (Treasury shares), the
consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs (net of income taxes), is deducted
from equity attributable to the Company's equity
shareholders until the shares are cancelled, reissued
or disposed of. Where such shares are subsequently
sold or reissued, any consideration received, net
of any directly attributable incremental transaction
costs and the related income tax effects, is included
in equity attributable to the Company's equity
shareholders.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities
(if any) measured in accordance with Note 4(t)(i),
trade and other payables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost except for the following payables:

— short-term payables with no stated interest rate
and the effect of discounting being immaterial,
that are measured at their original invoiced
amount; and

— interest free loans from related parties without
any fixed repayment terms or the effect of
discounting being immaterial, that are measured
at cost.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p)

(9)

Bank and other borrowings

Bank and other borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.
Transaction costs are incremental costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or
disposal of a financial asset or financial liability,
including fees and commissions paid to agents,
advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory
agencies and securities exchanges, and transfer
taxes and duties. Bank and other borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Bank and other borrowings are classified as current
liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the balance sheet date.

Convertible note
Convertible note which contain an equity component
are accounted for as follows:

Convertible note that can be converted to equity
share capital at the option of the holder, where
the number of shares that would be issued on
conversion and the value of the consideration that
would be received at that time do not vary, are
accounted for as compound financial instruments
which contain both a liability component and an
equity component.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R 3R B &

For the year ended 31 March 2012

“HEZRA=+t—-BLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(q) Convertible note (continued)

An initial recognition the liability component of
the convertible notes is measured as the present
value of the future interest and principal payments,
discounted at the market rate of interest applicable
at the time of initial recognition to similar liabilities
that do not have a conversion option. Any excess
of proceeds over the amount initially recognised as
the liability component is recognised as the equity
component. Transaction costs that relate to the issue
of a compound financial instrument are allocated to
the liability and equity components in proportion to
the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised
in profit or loss on the liability component is
calculated using the effective interest method. The
equity component is recognised in the convertible
note reserve until either the note is converted or
redeemed.

If the note is converted, the convertible note reserve,
together with the carrying amount of the liability
component at the time of conversion, is transferred
to share capital and share premium as consideration
for the shares issued. If the note is redeemed,
the convertible note reserve is released directly to
accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Q)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates (and laws)
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements. However, if
the deferred tax arises from initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss,
it is not accounted for. The amount of deferred
tax is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of
the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews and
assesses the recognised and unrecognised deferred
tax assets and the future taxable profit to determine
whether any recognised deferred tax assets should
be derecognised and any unrecognised deferred tax
assets should be recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % 8RR MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(r) Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax asset is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
except where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences is controlled by the Group and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

(s) Employee benefits
(i) Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution plans under
the mandatory provident fund scheme and
state-managed retirement benefits scheme are
charged as expenses as they fall due.

(i) Share-based payments

For grants of share options that are conditional
upon satisfying specified vesting conditions, the
fair value of services received is determined
by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date and is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share
options reserve). At the balance sheet date, the
Group revises its estimates of the number of
options that are expected to ultimately vest. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to
share options reserve. For share options that are
vested at the date of grant, the fair value of the
share options granted is expensed immediately
to profit or loss.

At the time when the share options are
exercised, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. T E€HHEME &)
POLICIES (continued)

(t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and (t) ERHUBEREY - BERD
contingent liabilities REE

(i) Financial guarantees issued () EEHHBEERER

Financial guarantees are contracts that require
the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payment to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee,
the fair value of the guarantee (being the
transaction price, unless the fair value can
otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially
recognised as deferred income within trade and
other payables. Where consideration is received
or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee,
the consideration is recognised in accordance
with the Group's policies applicable to that
category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss on initial
recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised
as deferred income is amortised in profit or
loss over the term of the guarantee as income
from financial guarantees issued. In addition,
provisions are recognised in accordance with
note (iii) below if and when (i) it becomes
probable that the holder of the guarantee will
call upon the Group under the guarantee and
(ii) the amount of that claim on the Group is
expected to exceed the amount currently carried
in trade and other payables in respect of that
guarantee, i.e. the amount initially recognised,
less accumulated amortisation.

MBERE B DA (BVE
RA) Al ERNEB AR
BRBER RGN 2 B
ISR Tk (G Ei=p =]
TUNENERZSEA(FE
AFEEBERZEH -

REBEZELMBERZBER
T ERZATFEBIRZRS
B BRIFERFEAAEAMT
BRI RETE) SR RE
NE S KREMKIEZELWL
A o el Bt 3% AR R T AR K
e ARAE - RIZ KB TIRIE
AEBERRZBREEZR
BT ARER o fim I 4 Y B K
FERERR(E - BRI 1) 2 #E 3R
1T fr] 3 JE U A B RE 2R A B B
X e

R A HE R A I WA R HE AR
REERNERANCEDE
o ERREHBBERNK
A BEoh - ) ERTEE A
BrAgREASEEELZ
MBERAAEERIRE
R (i AL B RE KR
HBBREIINENE SR
Hfk AR R E (A&
REHR) - BRI B
B ABARIE T X S FERR

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K



/8
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

4, FESTTHEBRE (»®)

(t) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and

() CBHMBERESN BERS

contingent liabilities (continued) REEE)

(i) Contingent liabilities acquired in business (i) REBEIFPERFZHAE
combinations &
Contingent liabilities acquired as part of a EEBEHPES 2R

(ii)

business combination are initially recognised
at fair value, provided the fair value can be
reliably measured. After their initial recognition
at fair value, such contingent liabilities are
recognised at the higher of the amount initially
recognised, less accumulated amortisation where
appropriate, and the amount that would be
determined in accordance with note (iii) below.
Contingent liabilities acquired in a business
combination that cannot be reliably fair valued
are disclosed in accordance with note (iii)
below.

Other provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as
a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(u) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. Revenue
excludes value added and business taxes, and is after
deduction of trade discounts, if any.

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and the revenue and the costs,
if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in profit or loss as follows:

0]

(it)

(iii)

(V)

V)

Revenue arising from rare resources is
recognised when the Group has transferred to
the customer the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the goods.

Revenue arising from gamma ray irradiation
services is recognised in the accounting period in
which the services are rendered.

Revenue arising from property management is
recognised in the accounting period in which the
services are rendered.

Rental income is recognised on a straight line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised
when the Group has delivered the relevant
properties to the purchaser and the collectability
of related receivable is reasonably assured.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(u) Revenue recognition (continued)
(vi) When the renovation services are provided and

the outcome of the renovation project can be
estimated reliably, renovation service income
is recognised on the percentage of completion
method measured by reference to the value
of work carried out during the year. When the
outcome of a renovation project cannot be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised only to
the extent of the project costs incurred that it is
probable will be recoverable.

(vii) Sales of building materials are recognised when

they are delivered and title has passed.

(vii)Realised gain or loss on investments held for

(ix)

)

trading is recognised on a trade date basis whilst
unrealised gain or loss on investments held for
trading is recognised to restate to their fair value
on the balance sheet date.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

Dividend income from investments is recognised
when the Group's rights to receive payment
have been established prior to the balance sheet
date.

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2012

4, FESTTHEBRE (»®)

(u) WAZ®BR (&)

(vi)

ERERFREM  KEE
BEIRB ZEREEH A S h
o RlEERB DA 2
EERNMETIIEEER
REERBT2BA - BRE
HE ZERTBER M
&t BliR A gE M @ 2 1R B AX
REER -

(vii) B EZEM B 2 WARE

MBS BERER

(i FFEEEERE 2R W

()

)

HEBDNEE B HER
MEEEEEREZRER
WasBERIIRKEFZRF
BEAE B E 3T R o

MBWA TR BB A =R
RELR T IARER -

BE T REMA TN AEE
W ER KT 2 B A
A1 e ST B HERR -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v) Foreign currencies translation

0,

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the
functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HK dollars, which
is the Company’'s functional and the Group's
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss, except those arising from foreign currency
borrowings used to hedge a net investment in a
foreign operation which are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary items,
such as equity instruments held at fair value
through profit or loss, are reported as part of the
fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on
non-monetary items, such as equities classified
as available-for-sale financial assets, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the fair value
reserve.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(v) Foreign currencies translation (continued)

(iif) Group companies

The results and financial position of all
the group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that balance sheet;

(b) income and expenses for each financial
statements are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

(c) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
currency instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in exchange reserve. When
a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified from equity to profit
or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the year-end closing rate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(w) Borrowing costs

®)

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e. assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised.

Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(x) Related parties (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

0)

(i)

(iii)

(V)

)

(vi)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified (a)(i) has significant

over influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management personnel
of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(y) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal to the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2012

BE_Z—

“HEZRA=+t—-BLFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

0]

(i)

(iii)

Allowance for impairment of trade and other
receivables

The Group makes allowance for impairment of bad
and doubtful debts based on an assessment of
the recoverability of trade and other receivables.
Allowances are applied to trade and other receivables
where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be collectible. The
identification of impairment of bad and doubtful
debts requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact carrying value of
receivables and allowances for impairment losses in
the period in which such estimate has been changed.

Estimation of impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has
suffered any impairment, in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in Note 4(l). The recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units have been
determined based on value in use calculations. These
calculations require the use of estimates (Note 18).

Amortisation of intangible asset

Intangible asset is amortised on a straight-line
basis over its estimated useful lives in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in Note 4(d).
The determination of the useful lives involves
management’s estimation. The Group re-assesses
the useful life of the intangible asset and, if the
expectation differs from the original estimate, such
a difference may impact the amount of amortisation
charged to consolidated income statement during the
year and the estimate will be changed in the future
period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(iv) Income taxes

Deferred tax asset in relation to the unused tax
losses of approximately HK$248,785,000 (2011:
HK$274,204,000) was not recognised in the Group's
consolidated balance sheet. The realisability of
the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether
sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases
where the actual future profits generated are less
than expected, a material reversal of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit
or loss for the period in which such a reversal takes
place.

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax expenses in the year in which such
determination is made.

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Business segments

For management purpose, the Group is organised into five
(2011: four) major operating divisions — rare resources,
gamma ray irradiation services, property development,
rental and sales, trading of building materials and
provision of renovation services, and securities trading and
investment. These divisions are the basis on which the
Group reports its primary segment information.
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6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

An analysis of the Group's turnover, contribution to
operating results and segment assets and liabilities by

business segments is presented as follows:

2012

INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2012

REVENUE
Turnover

Segment results

Unallocated other operating
income

Unallocated corporate
EXpenses

Loss from operations
Finance costs

Loss before taxation
Taxation

Loss before non-controlling
interests

6. TEEFR @)

TWEE -EERERE

AT2IBEBDBOM 2 AEEE
R ReXEER "HMEERE

f& :
—E—=
Trading of
building
Gamma Propety ~ materials  Securities
ray development, and provision trading
Rare imadiation  rental and of renovation and
resources services sales services investment  Unallocated  Consolidated
nx  BEME
mEsE HR -HE ERRRM  R5EE
REER  RAREH R#E  RBEB ERE AIE &a
HKS" 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HK$' 000 HKS' 000
ThEn ThEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TER TiEn
W%
Hz-g--f
ZREt-ALEE
)
EE3 6 9,404 16,450 866 - - 26,726
AR (25,787) 1,080 (1,793) (392) 14999 - (17,893)
AOREMEERA
3
AARLRER
(34,808)
2EFE (52,698)
HEARA (14,232)
BHAER (66,930)
Ha 2,406
REERERAEE
(64,524)
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NOTES TO THE

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

2012 (continued)

BALANCE SHEET
AT 31 MARCH 2012

ASSETS
Segment assets
Unallocated corporate assets

Consolidated total assets

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities

Unallocated corporate
liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

OTHER INFORMATION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2012

Addition to goodwill
Intangible asset
Capital additions

BEGSER
R=%-ZF
ZAZ1-H

kg
NREE
RARATRE

RREEAE

Efhgs
BE-8-CF
ZB=t-ALEE

HERE
BIAE
ity N

Depreciation and amortisation #7 % &

Net unrealised gains on
financial assets
at fair value through profit
or loss

BAFEFAREL
EREEIRER
R HE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BE_Z—

6. TEEFR (#)

DEEE BEREEHE)

ZE-ZF(#)
Trading of
building
Gamma Propety ~ materials  Securities
ray development, and provision trading
Rare  iradiation  rental and of renovation and
resources services sales services investment  Unallocated  Consolidated
ng BEMH
EssE BB HE EAREH HEEE
REER R R R#E H£BRE k&2 £2E B4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS' 000 HK$'000
Tin TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn
875,363 69,002 64,589 506 39,972 - 1,049,432
27,666
1,077,098
638,180 9,965 35,776 420 123 - 684,464
32,221
716,685
171,536 - - - - - 171,536
547,472 - - - - - 547472
4514 50 543 - - 69 5176
15,102 4701 73 7 - 309 20,192
- - - - 9,486 - 9,486
& fm | & B R ~» 38 2012%#%
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For the year ended 31 March 2012

&

EEZ-—FZA=Z+-BLFE

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

2011

INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2011

REVENUE
Tumover

Segment results

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Unallocated other operating income
Unallocated corporate expenses

Loss from operations
Finance costs

Loss before taxation
Taxation

Loss before nan-controlling interests

bR
gE-—-F
“A=1-ALLFE

BEERESAER
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6,966 22,385 1,122 - - 30,473
297 (23,092) (1523) (6,238) - (30,556)
48924
120
(44,986)
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(558)
(27,056)
(3,684)
(30,740)
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6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER (&)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) PHEE -BEREE(F)
2011 (continued) —T——F(#&)
Trading of
building
Gamma materials Securities
fay Property  and provision trading
imadiation  development,  of renovation and
services rental and sales services  investment  Unallocated  Consolidated
] BEMH
mestg  ER-HE  BHREHM #5EE
AT R R#E RERK kixa AR e

HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TAR TAR TR TR TR TiEn

BALANCE SHEET BEARR
AT 31 MARCH 2011 W-F-—-F=A=1-H
ASSETS BE
Segment asses PPEE 70,069 121327 1111 5522 - 198,029
Unallocated corporate asses APENAEE 6,719
Consolidated total assets GREERE 204,748
LIABILITIES afs
Segment liabilties APaE 9,696 52310 135 - - 62,141
Unallocated corporate liabilties APRAAEE 37465
Consolidated total liabilities Leaklsg 99,606
OTHER INFORMATION ZthER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 2 _2——F
31 MARCH 2011 ZR=1T-RIL%E
Capital additions MEERM I 13,547 61 - - 467 14,075
Depreciation and amortisation NEREH 3,705 163 58 - 246 4172
Impaiment losses on other receivables 1 ENEE 2B BEE - 1,346 - - - 1,546
Fair value gain on investment properties &M% 2 ATEKE - 1,098 - - - 1,098
Net unrealised gains on financial assets  EAFEFABEZ
at fair value through profit or loss ERAELAER
W% - - - 1018 - 1018

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K



92

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R 3R B &

For the year ended 31 March 2012

&

6.

EZE-ZFZHA=T-BLEFE

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
Revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from external customers. There were no inter-segment
sales during the year (2011: HK$Nil).

Segment results represents the profit (loss) earned
or incurred by each segment without allocation of
central administration costs including directors’ salaries,
investment and other income, finance costs, and income
tax expense. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

— all assets are allocated to reportable segments
other than current and deferred tax assets. Goodwill
is allocated to reportable segments as described
in Note 18. Assets used jointly by segments are
allocated on the basis of the revenues earned by
individual segments; and

— all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments
other than certain borrowings and current and
deferred tax liabilities. Liabilities for which segments
are jointly liable are allocated in proportion to
segment assets.

Geographical segments

All of the Group’s operations are principally located in
Hong Kong and the People’'s Republic of China (the
“PRC"). The Group's administration is carried out in Hong
Kong.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R 3R B &

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical segments (continued)

An analysis of the Group's turnover by geographical
market, irrespective of the origin of the goods and
services, is presented below:

Hong Kong ¥
The PRC i

6. TEEFR (#)

HE D (E)

AT2NAEERMEN IS D 2 &
ER (T Em MR RIRI) DA -

2012 2011
—E-—F —FT——%F
HK$'000 HK$" 000
FET TH&IT
866 1,122
25,860 29,351
26,726 30,473

ATRBEEMEMEI D 2 HMBEE
BREENARHIEEE BHEEERD
X BEMRBZON:

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of
segment assets, and additions to goodwill, intangible
asset and property, plant and equipment, analysed by the
geographical area in which the assets are located:

Additions to goodwill,
intangible asset
and property,
plant and equipment

Carrying amount
of segment assets

PEEEREE N  BERRE
2012 2011 2012 2011
—F-=-F T % Z%B-=f T —F
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
FERT FET FTERT FHET
Hong Kong BB 59,832 12,161 38 -
The PRC H B 1,017,266 192,587 724,146 14,075
1,077,098 204,748 724,184 14,075

Information about major customers ERETEEFZER

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group's
customer base was diversified and no single external
customer exceeded 10% of the total turnover of the
Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, revenue from a
customer amounting to HK$2,835,000 contributed over
10% of the total turnover of the Group.

REBEZEZT——F=A=+—HLHF
E AEERFER A WES
—ZINEFBANEEEEEE L
109% °

RNEBE_TE——F=A=+—HItF
B RE—RBEF 2 A2,835000%
L ARE BB E B B EEIB10% °

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

7. TURNOVER, OTHER REVENUE AND GAINS, 7. # %% - Httg AR W - F
NET L
Turnover represents the aggregate of the net amounts Memie FENE=FHE U R ERS
received and receivable from third parties during the year. TR E e REFL R . Hiply
An analysis of the Group's turnover, other revenue and ARz  SEEAMOT :
gains, net is as follows: h
2012 2011
—E——fF —E——F
HK$'000 HK$' 000
TET FHET
Turnover BER
Rare resources "B &R 6 =
Gamma ray irradiation services NS 5 4R PR 5 AR 75 U A
income 9,404 6,966
Sale proceeds from properties & Al B E W E IS RIA
held for sale 16,179 20,942
Properties management fees MERERE - 369
Rental income from properties YIEE S WA 271 1,074
Renovation services KER® 161 111
Trading of building materials BEEMHE S 705 1,011
26,726 30,473
Other revenue and gains, net H W AR Wz F8E
Interest income on financial assets ~ W3R A FEFABZEZ
not at fair value through profit TREEZHBWA
or loss 27 24
Dividend income from listed FHREZEREEA
investments 249 =
Net realised gains (losses) on EAVEFABRZ
financial assets at fair value PRMEEZEEE
through profit or loss W (E518) F 8 5,275 (7,321)
Net unrealised gains on financial BAFEGFABRZ
assets at fair value through profit TRIBEZ RS RI G FE
or loss 9,486 1,018
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEME QAR
(Note 35) (K15%35) - 48,924
Gain on disposal of investment HERE X W
properties - 8
Fair value gain on investment KEME 2 AT ERE
properties (Note 16) (H1at16) - 1,098
Bad debts recovered ZER U [D] 5114 =
Reversal of allowance on BOE5rWRERE -
trade receivables, net (Note 23) RER (H1iE23) 192 -
Exchange gain PEE 5,48 1,152 —~
Sundry income FEEIA 1,095 679
22,590 44,430
49,316 74,903
Gross proceeds from securities HHREREZWRERE
trading 98,389 36,585
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FINANCE COSTS

Interest on:

Bank borrowing wholly repayable BARAF
[
=]

within five years

Other borrowings wholly repayable 7B
H

within five years

Convertible note (Note 29)

Total interest expense on financial
liabilities not at fair value through

profit or loss

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF %5 R 3k B =

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

8. MIEM
2012 2011
—F-=F —T——F
HK$'000 HK$' 000
FHET FHE T
FE
NEBEEZ
RITEE 797 558
TFANEZHEEY
L e E 10,387 —
R EE (47:229) 3,048 —
WIERRAFEFABEZ
TREBE BN BT T
14,232 558

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R 3R B &

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

9. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 9. REATEIE
Loss before taxation has been arrived at after charging/ B RTEERE (BT A) THEB
(crediting): BEY
2012 2011
—_E——F —E——14F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Staff costs* 8 I A*
— directors’ remuneration (Note 10) —&S=8& (#a£10) 979 2,473
— basic salaries and other benefits —EXHFS R EMER 7,951 9,085
— retirement benefits scheme —IRIKAE I ET Bl 5k
contributions 321 110
— share-based payments — AR ABER R - 7,101
9,251 18,769
Auditors’ remuneration % B 6 B & 1,177 1,100
Depreciation and amortisation of M- WERZEITE
property, plant and equipment* N s 6,147 3,715
Amortisation of intangible asset | & E 13,537 -
Amortisation of land use rights o 3 {5 PR M 5 508 457
Loss on disposal of property, plant — HEWZE - BE k& iE 2 EE
and equipment 1 14
Operating lease payments (Note 38) # &M E R (A7:238) 4918 6,547
Cost of sales* 6 Ak AR 30,957 25,777
Write-down of inventories T E#MUR 9,826 317
Rental income net of direct outgoings A& W AR H#Z =
of HK$Nil (201 1: HK$Nil) ZEET(ZE——F : THET) (271) (1,074)

@ Cost of sales includes HK$4,632,000 (2011: #
HK$3,452,000) relating to staff costs and depreciation
expenses, which amount is also included in the respective
total amounts disclosed separately above and other
direct operating expenses of HKgI1,109,000 (2011:
HK$780,000).
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Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 10.EERESHFMA LT ZHE
AND HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEME
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed BEBMIXFAES ELMREES
pursuant to The Rules Governing the Listing of REHGHIE 16 VGRBEZ A FEE
Securities on the Stock Exchange and Section 161 of EMemT

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Retirement
benefits Share-
Directors' ~ Salaries and scheme based 2012 2011
Name of directors fees  alowances  contrbutions payments Total Total
EARA WRha -B-=f _—F--F
ESTH E2He  HeRER MY ERZAR s it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TRL TR TR Tén TR

Executive directors #i7Es
Mr. Ho Chi Ho (Note o) MER %% (Hita) - 254 4 - 258 1,808
Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel ~ ESk%4 (4/8)

(Note b) - 18 3 - 121 -
Non-executive directors FUES
Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren REELE 120 - - - 120 133
M. Chow Siu Ngor BIEsE 120 - - - 120 133

Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES
directors

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen EEETE 120 - - - 120 133
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen REEft 120 - - - 120 133
Mr. Hung Hing Man HEXEE 120 - - - 120 133
Total 2012 “T-Ch8E 600 n 7 - 979 2473
Total 2011 “E--E4E 600 600 12 1,261

Notes: et -

(a) Resigned on 13 January 2012 @ RZZE——-F—-A+=HEfE
(b) Appointed on 13 January 2012 (b) RZZE——F-—A+=BEEE

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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Bt % 8RR MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

10.DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
AND HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, one (2011: one) was director of the
Company whose emoluments are set out above. The
emoluments of the remaining individuals were as
follows:

1W.ESRBESHFHALZHME

(%)

(b) ZEFHFMAL
AEEREERTFMALTERE—
F2(ZE——%F: —R)ARAE
SO HEMeFBEMN EX - HR
ALZBEmT -

Salaries and other benefits

Retirement benefits scheme
contributions

Share-based payments

The emoluments of the remaining highest paid
individuals were within the following bands:

e REMER
BRI ET 8K

VAR A E B 2 A 3K

Up to HK$ 1,000,000
HK$1,000,001
to HK$2,000,000

1,000,000/ JT LA
1,000,001/ 87L&
2,000,0007% 7T

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the five highest paid individuals, including
directors and employees, as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office. None of the directors has waived any
emoluments during the year.
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2012 2011

=E-=F _T——%F

HK$'000 HK$' 000

FTERT FET

1,721 2,686

31 46

- 155

1,752 2,887

HAGSHMALTHMENFAT
/\7\-.

2012 2011
—E—CF —E——F
Number of Number of
employees employees

EBEA™ BE AR
4 3

FA-AEERITERNAERSH
MAL (BREZEREER) X
T MERIMAREE R IA
AEE s BRUBER 2 MIE - F
AT EEFRETMAME -
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

11.TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED 1.GZaRBERAZHE
INCOME STATEMENT
2012 2011
—B--f —T——%F
HK$'000 HK$"000
TR FHET
Taxation in the consolidated income #&WEmERAZFRIEHE -
statement represents:
Overseas tax: N IR -
Current year REE 433 246
Under-provision in previous years ERFERETE - 2
433 248
Deferred tax (Note 30): EIERIE (H5E30) -
Origination and reversal of EREZREZESXREE
temporary differences (2,839) 3,436
Taxation (credit)/charge | (Ee) S (2,406) 3,684

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as the Company and
its subsidiaries in Hong Kong have no assessable profits
for both years. Taxation for the PRC subsidiaries is charged
at the appropriate current rate of taxation ruling in the
PRC.

BHRAABREFTEHB QAN MWE
FEOERRAPEAN - WL EBERTH
BRFLBENSHEE - TEMNB
REBHIBETIIR D BER S PR -

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

11.TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)

The taxation on the Group's loss before taxation differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using

MN.GZ6WaRAZHIE &)

7R 52 1B R 750 A S 1B 2 B TR B i A GE A
E"T%J\’AT%T%ZKi‘M)%Z@ﬁﬁEEEZ

the domestic taxation rates applicable to losses of the BmEeB|EMAR - BRHET :
consolidated companies as follows:
2012 2011
—E-—F —E——%F
HK$' 000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Loss before taxation PR A& 18 (66,930) (27,056)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate  ¥Z 7N b FT 1S B A % 16.5%
of 16.5% (2011: 16.5%) —ZE——fF ! 16.5%)
AR 2B (11,044) (4,464)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses Al FI X MO FL 75 52 & 15,032 8,917
Tax effect of non-taxable income Pt BBRARN R G & (2,354) (12,487)
Tax effect of temporary differences AFERERZEREZEN
not recognised for the year Wiz 2 23 45
Tax effect of tax losses not REFRERZ BB BEEN
recognised for the year Mg e 1,196 9,543
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses BN LRI R HER 2 B E 18
previously unrecognised ORI RS- (2,418) (87)
Effect of different tax rates of EHEMANEEERERXZ
subsidiaries operating in MEARTRBENTZE
other jurisdictions (2,841) 2,215
Under-provision in previous years ERIFEREREIR - 2
Taxation (credit)/charge I (ER), S (2,406) 3,684
12.LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY 1N2.X N B RFZREE((EIE
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
The loss attributable to equity shareholders of the KA EZBREREGEEE A

Company has been dealt with in the financial statements
of the Company to the extent of HK$34,055,000 (2011:
HK$29,820,000).
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Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

13.0THER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 13.E2E WA
2012 2011
—F-=F —T——F
HK$'000 HK$' 000
THET FHET
Exchange reserve: ME R
Exchange differences on translation &8N B A &) 81 15
of financial statements of WMEZENZ
overseas subsidiaries 3,204 4513
Reclassification adjustments: BN OEAE
— Realisation of exchange reserve —HERBARRER
on disposal of a subsidiary ME 1
(Note 35) (K17#35) - 1,568
Net movement in the exchange REAM 2 E W AR Z
reserve during the year recognised — ANF EE K & F &
in other comprehensive income 3,204 6,081
14.LOSS PER SHARE 14.85REB
The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on FREAREIENBERND T ERE
the loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders 5 PE 15 AN E JE B 18 4956,198,000%
of the Company of approximately HK$56,198,000 7T (=T ——4 :429,203,000/%
(2011: approximately HK$29,203,000) and on the T)RERNBETET BB NEEH
weighted average number of 3,198,951,982 (2011: £(3,198,951,982 (=& — — 4 :
2,888,604,778) ordinary shares in issue during the year. 2,888,604,7780%) 5T & o
The calculation of diluted loss per share for the year HEREs T —®#=-F=+—HEK
ended 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011 has not —E——E=—H=+—HILEENE
included the potential effect of share options outstanding P& 5 5H s 1R A N0 BT I SR 1T B IR A
and the deemed conversion of the convertible note into T AT RS 2 1 (e B R e E AR Y
ordinary shares as they have an anti-dilutive effect on the WIEEE, BEEAKRESHEENER
basic loss per share for the year. HABBAENB S E -

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 9% - MERRZE

Leasehold  Leasehold Furniture Construction

Leaschold  landand  improve-  Plant and Motor and in
buildings  buildings ments machineg vehicles  fixtures  progress Total
BEtn  AEYX H i

BEEF  RET 58 LH# nE RRE HRIR At
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tér TEn TExr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEnr  TER

THE GROUP pi8-1C]
Cost A
At 1 April 2010 R-E-5FNA—-A 3,788 17,161 3,382 1,506 80 29,668
Addtions i 3,508 9925 461 106 36 14036
Disposals e - - - @7 - @)
Reclassification EEipx] 120 - - - (120) -
Disposal of a subsidiary HENBAR

(Note 35) (W#35) - (54) (264) (53) - (37)
Bxchange realignment EidE 166 173 - 754 11 16 4 1,24
At 31 March 2011 R_E-——F=A=t-8 758 4,085 39 27,786 3,690 1528 - M70
At 1 April 2011 R-Z-—-FNA-A 7582 4,085 39 27,786 3,690 1528 - 44710
Addtions i 2,064 - - 2301 497 124 190 5176
Disposals in & - - (2200 (3) - ()
Acquisiton of a subsidiary ~ WEMBAE

(Note 34) (Wit34) 73,176 29,867 196 - 4128 107367
Exchange realignment SR 290 1,063 110 17 - 1,636
At 31 March 2012 RZF-—F=A=1-H 83,112 61,017 2293 1,666 4318 156,686
Depreciation, amortisation 7% » B# & HfE

and impairment
At 1 April 2010 RZE-Z£MA-A 5 203 2,338 831 - 7,098
Depreciation provided RERHERE

for the year 402 2715 337 226 - 3,715
Eliminated on disposal HERE - - - (26) - (26)
Disposal of a subsidiary HERBLRR

(Note 35) (H#35) - (29) (159) (29) - 17)
Bxchange realignment B A% 10 73 84 4 - 336
At 31 March 2011 RZE2——F=H=+-H 47 2962 2,600 1,006 = 10,906
At 1 April 2011 RZE——ENA—A 47 2,962 2,600 1,006 = 10,906
Depreciation provided RERHERR

for the year 883 4705 327 198 = 6,147
Eliminated on disposal i E R 3 - - (1990 3 - (1939
Acquisiion of a subsidiary ~ WEEIHB A A

(Note 34) (Wit34) - - 10 - - 10
Exchange realignment [E 8% 26 165 5 6 - 401
At 31 March 2012 WZE-ZFZA=T-H 1306 7832 1,061 1,207 - 15530
Net book values FEFE
At 31 March 2012 RZZ-Z#=f=1-H _ 81786 53,185 1232 459 4318 141,156
At 31 March 2011 R-E——F=A=1—H 7,165 | 24,824 1,090 522 - 33,804
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The Group's leasehold buildings are situated in the PRC
held under medium term lease.

The Group's leasehold land and buildings are situated in
the PRC held under long term lease. As the prepaid land
lease payment cannot be allocated reliably between the
land and building elements, the entire lease payment is
included in the cost of land and buildings as a finance
lease in property, plant and equipment in accordance with
HKAS 16.

Depreciation expense of HK$4,064,000 (2011:
HK$3,031,000) has been expensed in cost of sales and
HK$2,083,000 (2011: HK$684,000) in administrative
expenses.

At 31 March 2011, one of the Group’s leasehold
buildings with carrying value of HK$3,703,000 (2011:
HK$3,676,000) is pledged to secure bank borrowing
granted to the Group (Note 28).

Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

15. 9% - BERKE®)

AEEZHER TN F B K AR H
MOKH -

AEBZHEETHEEBFURPEK
UERHENTE - RN BENHEHEL
FETER T REF TERE A EH
o At HEREARERES
AAERFISSREME BB A&RELZ
BEREREN LM REFERAZA -

TERIZF 40640008 (==
—— 4% :3,031,000% T) 2 & A
ER A 2,083,000 L (T ——
F : 684,000/ ) AIGt ATTHRER °

R-ZZE——F=ZA=Z+—H £A5H
Heh— BRI E 43,703,000 0 (=&
—— % : 3,676,000 7L) 2 HERTF
WIEAAREEER TRITEE ZER
m (K12228) -

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R 3R B &

For the year ended 31 March 2012
EZE-ZFZHA=T-BLEFE

&

15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

THE COMPANY
Cost

At 1 April 2010
Disposals

At 31 March 2011

At 1 April 2011
Additions

At 31 March 2012

Depreciation

At 1 April 2010

Depreciation provided
for the year

Eliminated on disposals

At 31 March 2011

At 1 April 2011
Depreciation provided
for the year

At 31 March 2012

Net book values
At 31 March 2012

At 31 March 2011

AR
e
N-E-—TEMA—A
i

R—ZE——F=ZA=+—H

K=F——£mA—A
7 12

R—ZE——F=ZA=+—H

i 8
WoE-—FEMA—A
RE R E R

& B 3 8

RZE——F=A=+—H

R-—ZE—FWM /8 —H
KEEZIFERE

R_E——_F=HA=+—H

AR R E

R—ZE——F=ZA=+—H

R_E——F=HA=+—H
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15. 9% - BMERRXE#H)

Furniture
Leasehold and
improvements fixtures Total
HEWERE HKAR#EE ot
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
THTT TBTT T 7T
39 501 540
- 47) 47)
39 454 493
39 454 493
— 38 38
39 492 531
3 248 251
19 64 83
- (26) (26)
22 286 308
22 286 308
17 67 84
39 353 392
— 139 139
17 168 185
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

16.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. REW =X
THE GROUP
rEE

2012 2011

—F-=F Z—T——F

HK$'000 HK$"000

FTERT FHET

At beginning of the year R E ) - 50,967
Additions NE - 15
Disposals HE - (185)
Fair value gain (Note 7) N EWE (B at7) - 1,098
Exchange realignment DEE 5 58 B - 883
Transfer to inventories HEZFE - (52,778)
At end of the year NS ES - -
The investment properties, being situated in the PRC held BEME (URHE - RERE LM
under medium-term land use rights, were revalued at 30 FRAEEES)ER_ZE—ZFFNA
September 2010, being the date of transfer to properties =+R(AEBRESELEMEZR
held for sale on market value basis by RHL Appraisal Ltd, HR) BR %8 7 B 2 ) 2 (E B ok R 1T AT
an independent firm of professional property valuer, as BEEMABRAREMEEELETER
to approximately HK$52,778,000. The fair value gain of 49 /452,778,000 70 - A E W= A
approximately HK$1,098,000 had been credited to the 1,098 0008 T2t ABE-T——%F
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 “A=1+—BLEFEZHEEREE

March 2011.

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

17.LAND USE RIGHTS 17. £ b 5 4
THE GROUP
rEE
2012 2011
s —E——4F
HK$'000 HK$' 000
TET FHET
Cost 2%
At 1 April RmA—R 12,708 12,173
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 34) B B A 7 (A7:#34) 5,473 -
Exchange realignment bE 54, 3 B 486 535
At 31 March R=RA=+—H 18,667 12,708
Accumulated amortisation E &
At 1 April REA—H 507 37
Amortisation provided for the year 2N & # $5 3B 508 457
Exchange realignment ME 3, 5 B 25 13
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1,040 507
Net book value SR FE
At 31 March R=A=+—H 17,627 12,201

The Group's interests in land use rights are outside Hong
Kong with medium term leases.

At 31 March 2012, the Group's land use rights with
carrying value of HK$12,182,000 (2011: HK$12,201,000)
are pledged to secure bank borrowing granted to the Group
(Note 28).
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AEERTERE L ESURER
PASN - ARBH IO EH

R-ZE——F=ZA=+—H  K&H
BREE A12,182,0008 T (—Z & ——
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

18.GOODWILL 18. &
THE GROUP
rEE
2012 2011
—E—-CfF —_=——
HK$'000 HK$"000
TR FHET

Cost A
At 1 April REA—H 23,592 31,201
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries A UKEEH B A 7B E 4

(Note 34) (K15#34) 171,536 -
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note) HEWE AR (AiE) - (7,609)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 58 1 -
At 31 March R=R=+—H 195,129 23,592
Accumulated impairment 2R E
At 1 April REA—H - 7,609
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note) HENB QR (K:F) - (7,609)
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H - -
Net book value REFE
At 31 March R=A=+—H 195,129 23,592

At the balance sheet date, the amount represents
goodwill arising from acquisition of 80% equity interest
in Zibo Liyuan Gamma Ray Technologies Co. Limited of
HK$23,592,000 during the year ended 31 March 2010,
and goodwill arising from acquisition of 54% equity
interest in Mianning Mao Yuan Rare Earth Technology
Company Limited of HK$171,536,000 during the year
ended 31 March 2012.

Note:

The goodwill arising from acquisition of Beijing Yo Luan Property
Development Company Limited amounting to HK$7,609,000
had been fully impaired during the year ended 31 March 2009.
The carrying cost of goodwill and the related accumulated
impairment were eliminated on disposal of this subsidiary during
the year ended 31 March 2011 (Note 35).

REER  ZRBEHEZZT T

“A=1+—HLEFEWEEENERS
Tl og PR £ 117 5 PR A 7] 2 80% % #E AT EE
4 2 EE23,592,0008 T REE T
—— A=+ BHLFEKREEE
BRI IRM T BB R A Rl Z54%% #
FrE£ 2 HE 171,536,000/ T °

Bz -

KBt R RBENERBERAREEZ
7,609,000 TEREE-_TTNF=
A=1t—HLEEERNBERE BEZRE
ANAMEEZTRERBEE=S ——
A=+ —HLEFELEZMERBRE
$5 (B 3£35) °

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R 3R B &

For the year ended 31 March 2012

&

EZE-ZFZHA=T-BLEFE

18. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to the groups of cash-generating units (CGUs)
comprising the gamma ray irradiation services segment
and rare resources segment.

The recoverable amount of the gamma ray irradiation
services operation has been determined based on a
value-in-use calculation, which uses a cash flow projection
based on financial forecast approved by management
covering a 5-year period. The discount rate applied to
cash flow projection is 16.72% (2011: 10%) and cash
flow beyond the 5-year period is extrapolated using zero
growth rate. The recoverable amount of the CGU of
gamma ray irradiation services segment is higher than the
carrying amount. Accordingly, no impairment loss charge
needed to be made against the goodwill as at 31 March
2012 and 31 March 2011.

The Group performed an impairment review for the CGU
of rare resources segment with reference to a valuation
carried out by a firm of independent professional valuers.
The recoverable amount of the rare resources segment
has been determined based on a value-in-use calculation,
which uses a cash flow projection based on financial
forecast approved by management covering a 10-year
period. The discount rate applied to cash flow projection
is 20.67% and cash flow beyond the 10-year period is
extrapolated using a steady 3.66% per annum growth
rate. The growth rate used does not exceed the long-term
average growth rate for the business in which the CGU
operates. The recoverable amount of the CGU of rare
resources segment is higher than the carrying amount.
Accordingly, no impairment loss charge needed to be
made against the goodwill as at 31 March 2012.

In view of the immense development potentials in rare
earth processing business in China which will benefit
from the Chinese government's policies in recent years
to consolidate the industry and restrict output, the
management believed that the projected cash flow based
on financial forecasts for a period of 10 years is reliable.
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BEEANRME  BECOIKERS
EEBMAR (BEMBHRRE D
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035 59 4R AR 75 48 & 75 2 AT Y Bl & §E
DiRFEREEFEZURBEERER
B AFHMBEE RS RETER
EE o BRe RS RBFTHM AR =X
B16.720(=ZF——%F : 10%) ' MA
Frrz2BeRENFEATEREXT
AHEE - MBS ERBoHcReE
EBZARECESRERAEE -
- R-_TBE——F=A=+—HK=
T——F=ZA=+—H BEHEHE
EREMREBES L -

AEE2EZ-HBYLBEXGERMDF
FrETZEE BHAERD NI
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EREFER  MEZBRAEREEER
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18.

19.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill (continued)

Management determined the budgeted sales and gross
margins based on past performance, expectation for the
market development and planned production strategy.
The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific
risks relating to gamma ray irradiation services and rare
resources segments.

INTANGIBLE ASSET 19. B &EE
HK$’000
FET
THE GROUP KEE
Cost A
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary W BB B A Bl E & (K7 5E34)

(Note 34) 547,472
At 31 March 2012 R-F——F=A=+—8H 547,472
Accumulated amortisation E-E
Charge for the year REFEXZH 13,537
Exchange realignment ME 5, 58 150
At 31 March 2012 R-ZFE——F=A=+—H 13,687
Net book value fREFE

At 31 March 2012 RZE——F=A=+—H 533,785

The intangible asset relates to the technical know-how
technology to convert rare earth concentrates into a
variety of rare earth products.

The technical know-how has a finite useful life and is
amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful
life of 10 years.

Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

18.8 & (&)

BERENR(E)
EEERBBERT MHEERZRA
HEGE 2 AERRETREHER
MEFR - FIRA R RBRA
P iR ERN35 5T AR AR 75 B B B IR D &
BRZRERR -

BVEERRER LBRERASE
MLEMZIRMRE

RMARBREBRERFH - REER
EEZHMGHERFH T FHHE -

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R 3R B &

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

19.

20.

INTANGIBLE ASSET (continued)

In accordance with the Group’s accounting policies,
the Group has assessed the recoverable amount of the
technical know-how based on a value-in-use calculations,
which uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management covering the
10-year operation period of the business with discount
rate of 20.67% per annum. The discount rate used reflect
specific risk relating to the rare resources segment.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
there is no indication of impairment in the carrying
amount of the intangible asset as at 31 March 2012 and
accordingly no impairment loss was recognised.

The amortisation charge for the year is included in
administrative expenses in the consolidated income
statement.

The Company

The Company has no intangible asset as at 31 March
2012 (201 1: HK$Nil).

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Unlisted shares, at cost

& s Bt /B8 1 ) SR IR
R

Amounts due from subsidiaries
Allowance for impairment

Amounts due to subsidiaries JE 11 Fft /B A &) TR B

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2012
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19. 8L EE (@)

BEAEEZHBR A&EEER
BEABENEES(EERENER
B fEZRETFNERKLERMD
MBEE 2R mETEA) AR
REZAIREI S MBREAEESF
20.67% ° FTERFA 2 BHIRE R ELFE B
BIRS B EEE 2 e R -

RRABEERB R_T——F=A
=t—H EBREEZREELEH
BREDR - B SRR EEE -

AEEHHEI B AR WRERTH
FXA e

N

ARFR B —F=A=t—AY

20 AMIB AR 2 &
THE COMPANY
PN

2012 2011
—F-=F —T——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
617,724 600,158
(366,799) (366,799)
250,925 233,359
(55,277) (148,694)




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The Company's cost of investments in the unlisted shares
of its directly held subsidiaries is less than HK$1,000.

Amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest
free and have no fixed term of repayment. In the opinion
of the directors, the amounts will not be recovered/settled
within twelve months of the balance sheet date and are
accordingly classified as non-current.

In view of the subsidiaries which sustained losses and
had poor operating performance, not financially capable
of repaying to the Company, the directors opined that
it is appropriate to make an allowance for impairment
of HK$366,799,000 (2011: HK$366,799,000) after
considering the profitability, financial positions, cash flows
and future prospects of these subsidiaries.

Movements on the allowance account are as follows:

At beginning of the year R EE A
Reversal of allowance i EEE S
At end of the year JINE S

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at
31 March 2012 are set out in Note 43.

Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

20 AMIB AT 2R (&)

KA REEEFEENH B AR ZIE
EMRHIEERARDRT,0008 7T ©

A NI B AR 2 RIBREIER
RELBETERP EFERA B
XA TERNEERES T =@A
MU EEE - Bt - ZEFIEED
BARIERE -

ERZEMBARIERBEREER
WRE WEMB EREERTEAR
A Al EEERZEMBATZ
BAEN  FHEMKR BHEREER
K AT & 18 R B 1 11366,799,0007 7T
—T——14:366,799,000/87T) Z R
BEREBEE -

BEREZ2ESHWNT

2012 2011

—E-—F —FT——%F

HK$' 000 HK$' 000

FE T FAT

366,799 377,399

- (10,600)

366,799 366,799

ARAZETEMBARR -_T——F
ZRA=1T—BZFBIHERNHIEAE3 -

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % 8RR MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

21.INVENTORIES

(a) Inventories in the consolidated
balance sheet comprise:

21. 58

() EEREBERAZFERSRE

Properties held for sale FIEHEWE

Raw materials R

Work in progress & m

Finished goods K mh

(b) The amount of inventories (b) XFEERRAERAZZ

recognised as an expense FEEE:
during the year:

Carrying amount of BEHEFERESR

inventories sold

22.PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

At beginning of the year R E 7]
Additions NE
Exchange realignment DE 5, 5 B
At end of the year R F £

The properties under development represent medium
term land use rights in the PRC.
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22. BREPYE

THE GROUP
REE

2012 2011
—E-—F —T——4F
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FHET T&IT
9,010 32,751
4,772 -
28,853 =
1,964 26
44,599 32,777
25,216 21,545

THE GROUP

REE

2012 2011
—E——fF —ET——%F
HK$'000 HK$"000
FHET T&TT
41,897 40,110
276 24
1,604 1,763
43,777 41,897

HRPVEENTE R LHER

1 o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables
Less: allowance for
impairment

Trade receivables, net
Other receivables and
prepayments

Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

23.ERE S R EAMERE
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
REHE b/
2012 2011 2012 2011
—Eg--F —T——F - —T——F
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
FET F&T FET FA& T
JEWE 5 R T1E 3,491 3,774 - -
Je ¢ RE B
2,632 2,901 - =
EWE ZEREFE 859 873 - =
H {th fE UK BRTE K
AN 41,786 34,325 72 53
42,645 35,198 72 53

In the opinion of the directors, all of the above trade
and other receivables are expected to be recovered or
recognised as expense within one year.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of trade
and other receivables approximate to their fair values.

The Group allows an average credit period of 60 days to
90 days to its trade customers. The ageing analysis of the
Group's trade receivables, based on the invoiced date and
net of allowances, is as follows:

Up to 30 days
31 to 90 days
91 to 365 days

308 A
31290H
91£2365H

E=ZRR LfmBERKES REM
FRAFEG AR —FAKREKERRE
J== 0

EERAREREZREMKRBZRE
BEEARFEMRS -

AEBGETHESEFPFHNF60R
EORZEEH AEBERERA
HIM R B R BKE 5 RENK
goManE

THE GROUP
rEE

2012 2011
—E-—F —FT——F
HK$'000 HK$"000
FHT FHET
627 310
231 385
1 178
859 873
= fim ® & B R 2 8 20125%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % 8RR MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23.BEKNES RHEMIRIE (&)
(continued)
The movements on the allowance for impairment are as BEEEB2ZEHOT :
follows:
THE GROUP
rEE
2012 2011
—E--F —ZE——%
HK$’000 HK$' 000
TET FHET
At beginning of the year R E 1)) 2,901 2,901
Impairment loss recognised EREREERE - 98
Uncollectible amount written off it 85 f % W [B1 518 77) -
Unused amounts reversed (note 7) ®EIARER SR (A#:27) (192) (98)
At end of the year REK 2,632 2,901

The uncollectible amount written off for the Group during
the year ended 31 March 2011 was in aggregate less
than HK$1,000.

At 31 March 2012, trade receivables of HK$2,632,000
(2011: HK$2,948,000) were impaired. The amount of
allowance for impairment was HK$2,632,000 as at 31
March 2012 (2011: HK$2,901,000). The individually
impaired receivables mainly related to a number of
customers that were in financial difficulties and have
remained long overdue.
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AEERBEE-_T——F=A=+—
B 1E 4 5 8H OR W B SRR A D R
1,000/ 7T °

WR-_T——F=ZA=+—H8 Bk
5 BR1E2,632,0008 L (=& — —
F 12,948,000 L) EERE - R
T A=+ HZRERE
# 52,632,000 L (Z T ——F :
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Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 2. BENEZ REMERIE &)

(continued)

RRBTREZEYE ZREAERE D

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables that are

considered to be impaired is as follows: iR BN
THE GROUP
rEE

2012 2011
—B2--F —T——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Less than 6 months past due B HR D 6 1E A - 78
6 months to 1 year past due BHAGE A =1 - 25
1 year to 2 years past due BEIE2F 25 42
Over 2 years past due B HA R B2 2,607 2,803
2,632 2,948

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables that are not

RAEARNECEEE ZRBARRKRD

considered to be impaired is as follows: i N
THE GROUP
rEE

2012 2011
—F-=F —T—F
HK$'000 HK$' 000
THET FHET
Not yet past due i) 7 280 HA 627 545
Less than 6 months past due B H > 0 61E A 231 328
6 months to 1 year past due B HAGME A =14 1 -
859 873
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance REEEMEASY e =ERE A

sheet date is the fair value of each class of receivables
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over these balances. All of
the other classes within trade and other receivables are
neither past due nor impaired with good credit quality.

FRERERYRRZAFE - A&H
WERZEERFAEAERmAHE
fiERED ARNEEERRI &
PrEEMEKRE S REMBERERLSE
B EFRE o

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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Bt % 8RR MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)
Included in trade and other receivables is the following

amount denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the Company to which they relate:

Renminbi AR

24.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Listed securities held for trading: BIEEBE LTES !
— Equity securities — Hong Kong —BRAREHF BB
Market value of listed securities ST E

None of the carrying amount of interest in listed securities
exceeded 10% of total assets of the Group at balance
sheet dates.
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23. BB S REMRE &)

W E 5 M EAMARIAS B N3k
NARBZMEEE REL 225

THE GROUP
AEE
2012 2011
—F-=F —T—F
’000 000
Fi FT
26,940 28,785
2. BRAFEFABREZ
TREE
THE GROUP
rEE
2012 2011
—F-=F Z—T——F
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
THET FET
39,606 5,522
39,606 5,522

REER EMEFESNEREAEYL
THEBAEEEEHLTEZ210% °
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Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

25.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 5. B EREEEHEER
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
KEH AAT
2012 2011 2012 2011

—Eg--F —T——F - —T——F
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
FERT FHET FERT FHET

Bank balances and cash $RiT&#HKE S 18,774 19,757 6,611 508
Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the miEARenEREAmE Be kB
purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows: S ETHIR H B T 5 &8 :
THE GROUP
AEH
2012 2011
—E-ZF —ZE——%F
HK$'000 HK$' 000
THET FET
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR RIS - b
as per above 18,774 19,757
Included in cash and cash equivalents in the balance BEBEREANIES LIRS E%EIER
sheet are the following amounts denominated in BIETHNIEUNARRDT 2S5
currencies other than the functional currency of the B

Company to which they relate:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
rEH b NN

2012 2011 2012 2011
—Eg--F —T——F - —FT——F
000 "000 "000 '000
T Tz Fr T
United States Dollars =TT 255 - - -
Renminbi AR 4,942 12,224 - 3
Japanese Yen H 20 - 20 -
Malaysian Ringgit BIRMEDRTT 1 - 1 -

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

26.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. EREZREMERE
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
REE PN
2012 2011 2012 2011
—E--F —ZF—— —B--F —ZF——

HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000

FHExT TF&TT FHExT T

Trade payables N E 5 RR1A 35,425 81 - -
Other payables and H & < BR 1B

accruals K FEET RIE 129,709 55,575 8,348 6,022
Amount due to JEHE F 508

a director - 3,600 - 3,600

165,134 59,056 8,348 9,622

In the opinion of the directors, all of the trade and other
payables are expected to be settled or recognised as
income within one year or are repayable on demand.

The amount due to a director is unsecured, interest free
and has no fixed term of repayment.

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade
and other payables approximates to their fair value.

The ageing analysis of the Group's trade payables is as

follows:

Up to 30 days 308
31 to 90 days 31£290H
Over 90 days #8890 H

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2012

EERA FEESREMENES
A — N R A B
BRI -

ENEEFRELSERER 2ERALE
[E E & K -

EZRRENESREMKREZRE
BEEEAFEMES -

AREBENEZREBZREDITAOT :

THE GROUP
rEH

2012 2011
—E--fF —E——%F
HK$'000 HK$' 000
FH&T FHET
10,440 52
6,271 —
18,714 29
35,425 81




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Included in trade and other payables is the following
amount denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the Company to which they relate:

Australian dollar B IT

Renminbi AR

27.AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY

At 31 March 2012, the amount due to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary is unsecured, interest free
and has no fixed terms of repayment. The directors are
of the opinion that the amount is not repayable in the
next twelve months from the balance sheet date and is
therefore shown as non-current.

At 31 March 2011, the amount due to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary was unsecured, interest free
and repayable on demand.

Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

26 BENEZREMERE #)

e E 5 M EMRIERRE T 53 LA
RRARZYEEH REMNEHE

THE GROUP
rEH

2012 2011
—E—CF —E——%F
000 000
Fr Tt
34 -
121,557 14,242

27. BB AR FERRRRIE

R_E——F=ZA=+—8 " EHN—
BB ARz —BIFERBREREE
EIRA  RENERTERSR-E
ERBEBREA/EERT=MAA
RTEWEREE - BRI AR -

R-_T——F=A=1+—8 Eff—
R B QR 2 — &R IFE R AR IR B
BEM 2ENAREREE -

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R 3R B &

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

28.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 28. RITRHMEE
THE GROUP
rEE
2012 2011
—E—-—fF —E——%F
HK$'000 HK$' 000
FTET FHET
Current RE
Bank borrowing — secured (Note a) $R1T1EE — G I (f/ita) 9,864 -
Non-current FRE
Bank borrowing — secured (Note a) R{Tfe & — HKIF (#/ita) - 9,501
Other borrowings — unsecured HifgE —&|ER (H7b)
(Note b) 424,850 -
Total borrowings BEE#E 434,714 9,501
THE GROUP
rEE
2012 2011
—F-=F =T F
HK$'000 HK$' 000
TET FHET
Bank borrowing repayable EEERTEE
Within one year 1F RN 9,864 =
In the second year E2F - 9,501
9,864 9,501
Other borrowings repayable EEEAMESR
Within one year 1R - -
In the second year F2F 424,850 -
424,850 -
Total bank and other borrowings RITREMEERS 434,714 9,501
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28.BANK AND OTHER

(continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BORROWINGS

The carrying amounts and fair value of the non-current

borrowings are as follows:

THE GROUP
rEHE

Bank borrowing
Other borrowings

Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

28. RITRHAMEE (&)

FRBEEZEREMERAFENT

2012 2011
—E——F —E——%F

Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
BREE AE¥E FRE A NSO
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
FET FET FAT FAT
RITEE - - 9,501 8,517
HihgE 424,850 350,393 - —
424,850 350,393 9,501 8,517

The carrying amount of short-term bank borrowing was
approximate to its fair value.

The carrying amount of borrowing is denominated in the

following currency:

Renminbi

AR

RHRITEE 2 REERE QX FEE

Eo

EENRMENR TNEE BN

THE GROUP
AEM
2012 2011
—_E2--F —E——F
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
FET FHET
434,714 9,501

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R 3R B &

For the year ended 31 March 2012

BE_Z—

“HEZRA=+t—-BLFE

28.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The bank borrowing matures until 25 September 2012 and
the average effective interest rate of the bank borrowing is
approximately 8.17% (2011: 7.313%) per annum. At 31
March 2012 and 31 March 2011, the bank borrowing is
secured by certain leasehold buildings and land use rights
of the Group (Notes 15 and 17).

At 31 March 2012, other borrowings include two
loans (“Loan A" and “Loan B") obtained by a wholly-
owned subsidiary from independent third parties. Both
Loan A and Loan B are guaranteed by the Company.
Loan A amounting to RMB180,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$221,620,000) is unsecured, interest
bearing at a rate of 11.5% per annum payable half-
yearly and due for repayment in full in December 2013.
Lender of Loan A has the right to demand the Company
to transfer a maximum of 25% equity interest in a non
wholly-owned subsidiary, 2% &R EREBRA A
(Mianning Mao Yuan Rare Earth Technology Company
Limited) to the lender in the event of a default to repay the
loan by the subsidiary or the Company on due date. Loan B
amounting to RMB76,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$93,573,000) is unsecured, interest bearing at a rate
of 13.5% per annum payable half-yearly and is due for
repayment in full in December 2013.

The remaining balance represents unsecured and interest
free borrowings of RMB46,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$56,636,000) and RMB43,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$53,021,000) obtained
from a company controlled by a substantial shareholder
of the Company and an individual respectively. These
borrowings have no fixed terms of repayment. The directors
are of the opinion that these amounts are not repayable in
the next twelve months from the balance sheet date and
are therefore shown as non-current.
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28. RITRHEMEE (&)
Hiat -
@) HOEEEE-_T——HFNA-_+HA

(b)

BEH EBTEEZFHERF
R BFFESIT% (ZFB— —F ¢
7.313%) s R-_ZTE——F=A=+—
BER—Z——% =F=+—8 " 17T
BENAEEETHEEF R M
FRHE{EIR IR (M aF15%17) »

R-_E——F=ZA=+—H ' —HM
2EMBAREBLE=FHESW
BERTEFRAIRIEFKB]) - B
ANEFBHHAARGER - BERAB
#H A R #180,000,0007C (494 & R
221,620,000/ 7T) /B &K IF - 12 F F
E11.5% 8 BFEFZMAFE - &
BAR_T—=F+_ATE8EE -
ZHBRARKARRREREIHEE
K REFAZEEABEZRAA
RIEEELEWBRARBEHZXER
TREERABHRZ25%02 KiE - &
FBAEARET6,000,0007T (HHE
793,573,000 70) B\ - I F
MEI1Z 50 E  BFFLHFHE -
WERZZE—=F+_ABHEE-

BTIERIEDHAZARREERRE
2l 2 AEl Rk —BERALTESZ &
EH e S EEARKA46,000,0007T
(#9488 156,636,000/ 7T) & AR
43,000,0007T (%40 & 753,021,000
YEIL) o ZEEE WA E T E R -
EERAEBREELEERART =@
AATSWEREE AR AER
@jj °



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. CONVERTIBLE NOTE

On 8 March 2011, the Company entered into
a subscription agreement (as amended by a
supplemental agreement dated 3 May 2011) to issue
3-years 1% convertible note in a principal amount of
HK$105,000,000 to Mega Market Assets Limited. Mega
Market Assets Limited is a substantial shareholder of
the Company. The issue of the convertible note was
completed on 17 October 2011.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, the convertible
note are convertible at the option of the noteholder
into ordinary shares on or after 17 October 2011 up
to and including 17 October 2014 on the basis of one
ordinary share with a par value of HK$0.01 each at an
initial conversion price of HK$0.27 per share, subject to
adjustments in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the subscription agreement in certain events.

Unless previously converted, redeemed, purchased or
cancelled, any convertible note not converted will be
redeemed by the Company on 17 October 2014 at its
principal amount outstanding together with all accrued
and unpaid interest thereon. The convertible note carries
interest at 1% per annum, which is payable half-yearly in
arrears.

At initial recognition, the convertible note are separated
into a liability component consisting of the straight debt
element and an equity component representing the
conversion options of the noteholder to convert the
convertible note into equity. The equity component is
presented as convertible note reserve in equity, whereas
the liability component is classified under non-current
liabilities. The proceeds received from the issue of the
convertible note have been split as follows:
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29. MR EE

RZE——F=ANH A2dF]
YREWE (BR-_E——FAHA=
BRIz ABHMER) - U@
Mega Market Assets Limited# 1T A&
#105,000,0008TTZ =FHRB1E
2 Al R AR - Mega Market Assets
Limited 8RR A2 E 2K « #17A]
BRREE-—FER=_ZT——F+A
THEBEMK -

BEREHZ EBEFAANEZT
—— &+ A+ tHEZEREE-T
—mE+A+ER (B2FEZA) L5
A RV P ERESR0.27E T (IR
BREHZ 2GR EBHEEETER
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FREE0.0E T 2 T @A -

PROFSCRTEEE - fEE -~ BB R H -
BAERE B ER AT RREEA S
ARAR-ZF—NOFE+ A+ EBEH
RAEEXRSBRMA BT RARNF
EHEE - RERERZFNEIES
B UABFEXMAME -

RORERE  IRBREESSES
EEREBTENBES D EED S
fn - MER AN BIRER A AERA]
BREBEAEGR ZBRE  YE#ES
NIRRT RERE  MBEEHD
AP BRIERDEIE - BT BREERE
2 EWEPTSFRIAR &l D A AT &

N\ .
7] -

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K

123



124

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
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29. CONVERTIBLE NOTE (continued)

0)

(iD)

The

Liability component represents the fair value of
the contractually determined stream of cash flows
discounted at the prevailing market interest rate
applicable to instruments of comparable credit status
and providing substantially the same cash flows, on
the same terms, but without the conversion features.
The interest charged for the period is calculated by
applying an effective interest rate of 7.757% to the
liability component since the convertible note was
issued.

Equity component represents the conversion options,
which is determined by deducting the fair value of
the liability component from the proceeds of issue of
the convertible note as a whole.

movement of the liability component and the equity

component of the convertible note for the year is set out
below:

Nominal value of convertible note

issued during the year

Equity component* (Note 33)
Transaction costs attributable to

wes A i+ (H1i233)

the liability component

Liability component on initial

recognition

Imputed interest expense (Note 8)
Interest payable

Liability component at 31 March

*

e 78

The transaction costs attributable to the equity component
of the convertible note amounted to HK$65,000.

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2012

HEMNE R (AZ8)

R=RA=t—Hz&af

BB

20. A AR RIE ()

0)

(iD)

BEHXD EAREEHRERE
ZAVE - DEREEBRAARL
RERXBUARIR SR - KK I8
A - BEYEBRERSEt eI A
FriE B eR{Tm s F EEEIR o
ARG EREABETE
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B E]mRE DEBR
BT BMRER ZBIEMSHE
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THE GROUP AND
THE COMPANY
AEBEAERQTF
2012
—E—-—=F
HK$’ 000
FER

2011
—F——%F
HK$'000
FE& T

105,000 -
(18,417) -

(305) -~

86,278 =

3,048 -
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29.

30.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONVERTIBLE NOTE (continued)

No conversion, redemption or purchase and cancellation
of the convertible note has occurred up to 31 March
2012.

The fair value of the liability component of the convertible
note based on cash flows discounted using a rate based
on borrowing rate as at 31 March 2012 is approximately
HK$90,779,000

DEFERRED TAXATION

Details of deferred tax liabilities and amount charged to
consolidated income statement are as follows:

30.
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29. T RIR & (#7)

BE—_T——F=A=+—HIt "7
MR EEERER . BRKEEY

BREA—TE——F=F=+—H2fE
EXUBAESREFEZAIBRRE
B EEE D 2 A F1E4R /90,779,000
BT o

IEE B R

EERBABLAGRARERIRZ
THEZFEBET

THE GROUP r&EH
Properties
held
Revaluation for sale Others Total
K E
B HEWE Ht At
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2010 R_E-—ZFFMA—H 5,636 - 711 6,347
Charged to consolidated B#R& W e & K

income statement (Htaz11)

(Note 11) 3,436 - - 3,436
Reclassification bR | (9,401) 8,062 1,339 -
Exchange realignment [ 5 38 & 329 - 31 360
At 31 March 2011 RZZT——%F

=A=+—H - 8,062 2,081 10,143
(Credited)/Charged to  B# AWz X

consolidated income (5t A) /0B

statement (Note 11) (Hit11) - (2,962) 123 (2,839)
Exchange realignment & X #§ % - 275 80 355
At 31 March 2012 RZE——F

=A=+—H - 5,375 2,284 7,659

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K

125



126

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R 3R B &

For the year ended 31 March 2012

&
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30. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

At 31 March 2012, the Group has unutilised tax
losses of approximately HK$248,785,000 (2011:
HK$274,204,000), part of which has not yet been
agreed with the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department,
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the tax losses due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unutilised tax losses as at 31 March 2012 were losses of
approximately HK$21,790,000 (2011: HK$21,113,000)
that would expire in five years and the remaining balance
would not expire under the current tax legislation.

At 31 March 2012, the Group has other deductible
temporary differences of approximately HK$467,000
(2011: HK$435,000) in respect of allowance for
impairment recognised. No deferred tax assets has been
recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
differences as it is not probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. These deductible temporary
differences do not expire under the current tax legislation.
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NANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
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31.SHARE CAPITAL 31. A
Number of shares Amount
BB & B S8
HK$'000
FAET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each: FREBEOIEIL TR
Authorised: e
At 1 April 2010, 31 March 2011 RZZE-FTFWPHA—AH -
and 31 March 2012 “E——F=ZA=+—8K
—E——f=A=+—H 15,000,000,000 150,000
Issued and fully paid: EETRHE
At 1 April 2010 RZE—FTFWOAHA—H 2,867,681,490 28,677
Exercise of share options 17150 8 e 88,000,000 880
At 31 March 2011 R—ZE—%=F=1+—H=H 2,955,681,490 29,557
Exercise of share options (Note) TR AE (f7 L) 418,000,000 4,180
At 31 March 2012 R-ZE——F=H=+—H 3,373,681,490 33,737
Note: Wi

During the year, options were exercised to subscribe for
418,000,000 ordinary shares in the Company at a consideration
of HK$45,188,000 of which HK$4,180,000 was credited to
share capital and the balance of HK$41,008,000 was credited
to the share premium account (Note 33) together with a
transfer of HK$9,550,000 from the share options reserve to
the share premium account. Details of options outstanding and
movements during the year are set out in Note 32.

All the ordinary shares issued during the year ranked pari
passu with the existing ordinary shares in all respects.

RAFE BEBEREETEANZARE
45,188,000/% 7T 7R fE4 18,000,000/% 48 A
A)EEAR - H 4,180,000 et AR -
#RF841,008,0007% J 5T A IR 19 ' (B Bk (47
7#33) » #[F19,550,0007%8 7T & B8 AL 4 % 18
BRERMDER RNFEHNATERR
R FBEHNMES2 -

-
HE Nz

RAERERNBIT AT BREER
RERMEMBE T mMZERRFED

/|

)
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&
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32.SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 24 April 2002, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the "2002 Scheme") which, unless otherwise
terminated, will remain valid and effective for a period
of 10 years from 24 April 2002. At the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 22 August 2011, the
Company adopted a new share option scheme (the
“2011 Scheme”) in place of the 2002 Scheme. Upon the
2011 Scheme becoming unconditional and effective on
23 August 2011, the 2002 Scheme was terminated on
the same date. Nevertheless, share options granted under
the 2002 Scheme prior to its termination shall continue to
be valid and exercisable in accordance with their terms of
issue.

(@) The 2002 Scheme

The 2002 Scheme was adopted by the Company on
24 April 2002 for the primary purpose of providing
incentives to directors, eligible employees and
consultants. Under the 2002 Scheme, the board of
directors of the Company may at its discretion offer
to any employee, including executive directors, or
consultants of the Company and/or its subsidiaries
options to subscribe for shares in the Company at a
consideration of HK$1 for each lot of share options
granted. Options granted should be accepted within
30 days from the date of grant.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of
the Company and will not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the shares on the date of
grant, (ii) the average closing price of the shares
for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant, or (iii) the nominal value of the
Company's shares.

The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the 2002 Scheme
shall not exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue as at the date of shareholders’ approval of
the 2002 Scheme, without a prior approval from the
Company's shareholders.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(a) The 2002 Scheme (continued)

The maximum aggregate number of shares which
may be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the
2002 Scheme and any other schemes, must not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of shares
of the Company in issue from time to time.

The maximum number of shares (issued and to be
issued) in respect of which options may be granted
to any eligible person in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue, unless a shareholders’ approval
has been obtained.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the 2002 Scheme at any time after the
date upon which the option is granted and prior to
the expiry of 10 years from that date. The period
during which an option may be exercised will be
determined by the board of directors in its absolute
discretion, save that no option may be exercised
more than 10 vyears after it has been granted. No
option may be granted more than 10 years after
the date of approval of the 2002 Scheme. Subject
to earlier termination by the Company in general
meeting or by the board of directors’ resolution at a
general meeting, the 2002 Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years after the date of
adoption of the 2002 Scheme.

By an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders
of the Company on 22 August 2011 and upon
the 2011 Scheme becoming unconditional and
effective, the 2002 Scheme was terminated on
23 August 2011. No further share options may be
offered under the 2002 Scheme. Nevertheless, share
options granted under the 2002 Scheme prior to its
termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable
in accordance with their terms of issue.
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32.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b)

The 2011 Scheme

The 2011 Scheme was adopted by the Company
on 22 August 2011 which will expire on 21 August
2021. The primary purpose of the 2011 Scheme is
to provide incentives or reward to the eligible persons
for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to
promote the interests of, the Group. Under the 2011
Scheme and subject to its terms and conditions,
the board of directors of the Company may at its
discretion offer to any eligible employee, director, or
consultant, agent, supplier, customer or contractor
of the Group options to subscribe for shares in the
Company. Such offer shall be open for acceptance
on a day specified in the letter of grant which shall
be no longer than 30 days from the date of the letter
of grant. The share options shall be deemed to have
been granted and accepted and taken effect when
the duplicate letter of grant is signed by the eligible
person and returned to the Company together with
a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1 for
each acceptance of grant of the share options.

The exercise price is determined by the directors
of the Company, which shall be at least the highest
of (i) the closing price of the shares on the date
of offer, (ii) the average closing price of the shares
for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of offer, and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company's shares.

The maximum aggregate number of shares which
may be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding
vested or unvested options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2011 Scheme and any other
schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue from
time to time (the “Overriding Limit").
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b) The 2011 Scheme (continued)

The aggregate number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all share options to be
granted under the 2011 Scheme and any other
schemes shall not exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of shareholders’
approval of the 2011 Scheme (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit"). Subject to the Overriding Limit, the
Company may refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit
by ordinary resolution of the shareholders in general
meeting, provided that the Scheme Mandate Limit so
refreshed shall not exceed 10% of the total number
of issued shares as at the date of shareholders’
approval of the refreshment.

The maximum number of shares (issued and to be
issued) in respect of which options may be granted
under the 2011 Scheme and any other schemes
to any eligible person in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue, unless a shareholders’ approval
has been obtained.

Any grant of share options to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company, or any of their respective associates must
be approved by the independent non-executive
directors. Where share options are proposed to
be granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director, or any of their
respective associates, and the grant would result in
the aggregate of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted or to be granted under
the 2011 Scheme and any other schemes to such
person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of offer of the relevant share options to
(i) represent in aggregate over 0.1% of the total
number of issued shares for the time being; and
(i) have an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the shares, in excess of HK$5,000,000, the
proposed grant shall be subject to the approval of the
shareholders in general meeting with the connected
persons abstaining from voting in favour.
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32.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b) The 2011 Scheme (continued)

An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the 2011 Scheme during such period as
may be determined by the board of directors (which
shall not be more than 10 years commencing on
the date on which the share option is granted and
accepted). Unless otherwise determined by the board
of directors, there is no minimum period for which a
share option must be held before it can be exercised.
Subject to early termination by the Company in
general meeting or the board of directors, the 2011
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years commencing on its date of adoption.

No share options have been granted under the 2011
Scheme since its date of adoption up to the date of
this report.

At the balance sheet date, the Company had 61,000,000
(2011: 479,000,000) share options outstanding under
the 2002 Scheme which represented approximately
1.81% (2011: 16.21%) of the Company’s share in issue
at that date. The exercise in full of the outstanding share
options would, under the present capital structure of
the Company, result in the issue of 61,000,000 (2011:
479,000,000) additional shares and additional share
capital of HK$610,000 (2011: HK$4,790,000) and share
premium of HK$7,452,000 (2011: HK$48,460,000, as
restated) (before issue expenses).

The following tables disclose details of the Company's
share options held by directors, employees and
consultants and movements in the share options granted
under the 2002 Scheme.
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32.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
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32. B EFHE (2)
BE-ZE——F=ZA=Z+—HLEE

For the year ended 31 March 2012

Grantee

ARA

Directors

£=

Ho Chi Ho

(resigned on
13.01.2012)

5%

(R-E—=

~f+=REf)

Ma Kwok Hung,
Warren

SEE

Chow Siu Ngor
Fi

EM

Won% Hoi Kuen

B8

L

Chan Chi Yuen
REE

Hung Hing Man
LEX

Employees
8

Consultants and
other eligible
participants

ERRES
RERZEA

Date
of grant

RiHAS

11.05.2009

16.09.2009

25012011

16.09.2009

25012011

16.09.2009

2501.2011

16.09.2009

25012011
25012011

16.09.2009

2501.2011

16.09.2009

2501.2011

Exercise

price

per share

SRiTERE

HKS
BT

0.0730

0.1160

0.1500

0.1160

0.1500

0.1160

0.1500

0.1160

0.1500

0.1500

0.1160

0.1500

0.1160

0.1500

Exercisable
period

T EHE

31.07.2009~
10052012

16.09.2009-
15092012
25012011~
24012013

16.09.2009~
15.09.2012
25012011~
2401.2013

16.09.2009-
15.09.2012
2501.2011-
2401.2013

16.09.2009~
15.09.2012
25.01.2011-
24012013

25012011~
24012013

16.09.2009-
15.09.2012
25012011~
2401.2013

16.09.2009-
15.09.2012
2501.2011-
2401.2013

T —=

Number of share options
BRELE
Granted  Exercised Lapsed

Outstanding ~ duringthe ~ duringthe  during the  Outstanding
at 31.03.2011 year year year at 31.03.2012
R-g--% RZ2-ZF

ZR=1-8 ) _ ZREt-
WAGE  EARY  ERE FRRN HATE
225,000,000 - (225,000,000) = =
2,500,000 - (2500000 - -
500,000 - (500000) - -
2,500,000 = = - 2500000
500,000 = = = 500,000
2,500,000 - (2500,000) - -
500,000 - (500000) - -
2,500,000 = = - 2500000
500,000 = = = 500,000
500,000 - (500000) - -
500,000 - (500,000) - -
57,000,000 - (57,000000) - -
27,000,000 = = - 27,000,000
157,000,000 - (129,000,000) - 28,000,000
479,000,000 - (418,000,000) - 61,000,000

ks

B fH i’ KEEER QI

Weighted
average
closing
share price
immediately
before
exercise date
BERAE
REARG
ik £

K E

HKS

BT

0.1863

02195

02511

N/A
TER
N/A
Nl
0.2195

02511

N/A
TR
N/A
i¥ilii

02511

0.2195

02511

U
UNGL
02511

2012 %
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32.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2011

Bxercise
Date price Exercisable
Grantee of grant per share period
AEA RUAH  BROEE A{TE A
HKS
BT
Directors
gz
Ho Chi Ho 17.09.2007 0.2420 17.09.2007-
Ot 16.09.2010
11.05.2009 0.0730 31.07.2009-
10.05.2012
Ma Kwok Hung, 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009-
Warren 15.09.2012
SHE 25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011-
24.01.2013
Chow Siu Ngor 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009-
Mg 15092012
25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011-
24.01.2013
Wong Hoi Kuen 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009-
&5 15092012
25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011-
24.01.2013
Chan Chi Yuen 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009-
T 15.09.2012
25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011-
24.01.2013
Hung Hing Man 25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011-
EX 24012013
Employees 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009-
[Eg 15092012
25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011-
24.01.2013
Consultants and ~ 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009-
other eligible 15.09.2012
participants 25.01.2011 0.1500 25.01.2011-
BRRHL 24012013
RERSEA
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32. B R RERT &l (4
BE_T——F=A=+t—HILFE

Nunber of share options
BRERE
Weighted
average
dlosing
share price
Granted Exercised Lapsed immediately
Outstanding ~~ duringthe ~ duringthe ~ duringthe ~ Outstanding before
at 31.03.2010 year year year at31.03.2011 exercisg date
‘ \ 2R
R_F-2% R_Z——% BENKH
=A=1-H ) . _ ZREt-R 0 MBS
HAR  FREY AR FARM RAGE Y (g
HKS
AT
18,000,000 = - (18,000,000) = N/A
I8 ilii
225,000,000 = = - 225,000,000 N/A
Iy clii
2,500,000 = = - 2500000 N/A
N clii
= 500,000 = = 500,000 N/A
Iy ilii
2,500,000 = = - 2500000 N/A
I8 clii
= 500,000 = = 500,000 N/A
Iy clii
2,500,000 = = - 2,500,000 N/A
R
= 500,000 = = 500,000 N/A
AER
2,500,000 = = - 2500000 N/A
Oyl
= 500,000 = = 500,000 N/A
Oy lii
= 500,000 = = 500,000 N/A
Iy clii
500,000 = = = 500,000 N/A
N ilii
- 118,000,000 (61,000,000) - 57,000,000 0.1602
54,000,000 - (27,000,000) - 27,000,000 0.1280
- 157,000,000 = - 157,000,000 N/A
Iy lii
307,500,000 277,500,000 (88,000,000) (18,000,000) 479,000,000




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The weighted average share price at the date of
exercise for share options exercised during the year was
HK$0.2287 (2011: HK$0.1533).

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the fair value
of the share options granted was HK$7,166,000 and
the Company recognised share-based payment of
HK$8,362,000.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model (the “Model"), taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. Details of the fair values of share options
determined at the date of grant using the Model with
significant variables and assumptions are as follows:

Exercise price (HK$) TEEET)
Dividend yield 1% B W
Expected volatility T8 HA K 1@

Risk-free interest rate 4 [ [ Al &
Expected life of option (years)

Closing share price at grant date (HK$)

The expected volatility, which is based on the approximate
historical volatility of closing prices of the share of the
Company in the past one year immediately before the
date of grant, reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome. The risk-free interest
rate represents the yields to maturity of respective Hong
Kong Exchange Fund Note as at the share options grant
date. The expected life of the options is based on the
historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise
patterns that may occur.

No other features of options grant were incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

TEHARE R A U (4F)
B Er R E GET)

Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
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32. B ERHE (#)

FABTEBRERITER 2 MEFE
BB B0.22878 L (T ——4F:
0.1533%7T) °

BE-_T——%=ZA=1t—-HL
FE - BERLEEREZATER
7,166,000 7T * KA AIRER AR
BEME 2 {F5£8,362,000%8 7T °

M AR AR A 2 B PR MO 2 T (8
BB IR B DA 0 55 — 4T B A A A
= ([0 )) st - 2 B IR
AR AR 2 3R 16t 75 BB AR A 10 1
B AR RA e AT EREX
BERBROFEDT

Date of share options grant
BRERE A S
25.01.2011

S

—B=+®H

0.1500
0%
47.593%
0.280%

1

0.1500

BEKERR AR AR REZR G
B AT B £ — F 2 W B K I8 &
B RBRESL KB AIRETRKEE D
B ARBAERER - EBRERFH =
EERREBEENEESRRBZE
MRS R - BHEREE R OER
FESE BB M E - 8K & S BR E AT B
HIRZITERE -

At E R FER I BT LI ERED
H DR

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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&

EZE-ZFZHA=T-BLEFE

33.RESERVES

THE GROUP

The contributed surplus of the Group represents
the cancellation of an amount of approximately
HK$48,000,000 from the share premium account of the
Company and the credit of an amount of approximately
HK$610,247,000 of the Company's share capital
cancelled in 2002 and the contribution of approximately
HK$26,719,000 from the placing of warrants in 2002 that
had expired in 2003.

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal amount of the share capital issued
by the Company in exchange for the nominal amount of
share capital of its subsidiaries acquired at the date of a
previous group reorganisation.

Exchange differences relating to the translation of the
net assets of the Group's foreign operations from their
functional currencies to the Group's presentation currency
(i.e. Hong Kong dollars) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the
exchange reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the foreign operation.

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2012

33. &

rEE
AEEBZHARBREBFHERARRN
i 8 BR A1 4948,000,0008 T MR =&
T OFFHEANARIMRA4LI610,247,000
BTERBMR _TT _FREENZ
TE=FERMIRAREZRERIED
26,719,000/ It °

AEENFRIERERARTRNBED
S EEHEH R AT IR EEH B QA
P N T B8 1 3% 17 2 B 7S T B B 5% 55 P
BARKAEERNER

HEGAREBBIINEGE 2 FEERRTD
EEBHRESAKEZIEE (AE
)EF@ZEF_%%ETJEER\EI@EE
WA TERR I 10 B 5L 1 1 R 5T » &% &
EARERGFZELZBARNEE /t$7|\
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33.RESERVES (continued) 33.Gk 1B (&)
THE COMPANY ¥ NN
Share Capital ~ Convertible Share
premium  redemption note Contributed ~ options Accumulated
account reserve reserve surplus reserve losses Total
BXEE TRREE
R EER 1 fiff  BARR BRERE ZIER @it
HKS' 000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS' 000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Thn ThR TR T THR TR T
Balance at 1 Apil 2010 R-B-BEMA-B7EH 591839 13478 - w7760 7818 (1465007) 56288
Share options expenses  EEREZ 2298 - = - (2298) = =
Share options granted RnERE - - - - 8362 - 8362
Evercise of share options 17 BTk & 11402 - - - - - 11402
Share options lapsed BREXK - - - - (2726) 2726 -
Total comprehensive AEERERNAE
expense for the year - - - - - (29820) (29,820
Blance at 31 March 2011 R-B——%=F=+-Bz&% 605539 13878 - 7760 11156 (1492101) 46232
Convertible note - equity ~ ATEAREE-EXSH
component, net of (KR 5HE)
transaction costs - - 18,352 - - - 18,352
Share options expenses BB 41,008 - - - - - 41,008
Exercise of share options ~ 1TF R & 9,550 - - - (9,550) - -
Total comprehensive AERRAXLES
expense for the year - - - - - (34055  (340%5)
Blanceat 31 March 2012 R-B——#=A=+-Bzi# 656097 13878 1832 07760 1606 (152615%6) 71537

Convertible note reserve represents the amount allocated
to the equity component of convertible note issued by the
Company recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for convertible note in Note 4(q).

MR REEEEANABAETA S
BREF DD EDBE ZRE &
N A THIR B MY TE4(q) FT R IR R AR PR
MZEETRERETHER

b B il K E B R 2T

2012 %
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&

EZE-ZFZHA=T-BLEFE

33.RESERVES (continued)

The contributed surplus of the Company represents:

(i) the difference between the consolidated
shareholders’ funds of the subsidiaries at the date
on which they were acquired by the Company, and
the nominal value of the Company's shares issued
for the acquisition at the time of a previous group
reorganisation;

(i) the cancellation of an amount of approximately
HK$48,000,000 from the share premium account
of the Company and the credit of an amount of
approximately HK$610,247,000 of the Company's
share capital cancelled in 2002; and

(iii) the contribution of approximately HK$26,719,000
from the placing of warrants in 2002 that had expired
in 2003.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the contributed surplus account of the
Company is available for distribution. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(a) the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of the Company's assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital and share premium
account.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company had no
reserves available for distribution to shareholders at
31 March 2011 and 31 March 2012.

The share options reserve represents the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised. The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to accumulated losses should the related
options expire or be forfeited.
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33.G 16 (&)

NN P O o

() ARABFRMEBEZHERRREE
BHNGRERRESEBEEE
EHERRKBAEITZAREIRK
HEERNERR

(i) EHEARRRKRNEERE T D
48,000,000 7T * WERZFF
“HEEEHNARNRBBRAPRZH
610,247,000/8 TLAE R + I

(i) RZEZE_FHRER_ZTZT=F
fE w2 SRR FE 2 5 RIE L
26,719,000 7T °

BEBRZE-NAN—FRE(KE
7)) ARBZBABBRRAHEDIK
A HHERTHER - RRBAF
BHARRE RIORMNRBHIEL D
K

(a) AR AEE AR AR B IR &
FEEFHEE X

(b) XRREEZAZHREBEKHLL
mARERE HE2HITHRAR
BRipEBR=% &M -

EERA N E——F=A=1—
BRZZE—Z-F=A=+—H &R
B A R T ROR 2 A e

BRERERERIERRKITEZ
BRENATE ERHEBREEST
- HEESEBEERMNEER
k2 A R B AR JE A S BOR IR - Rl
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 29 December 2011, the Group completed the
acquisition of 90% equity interest in Yunnan He Da
Investments Company Limited which held 60% direct
equity interest in Mianning Mao Yuan Rare Earth
Technology Company Limited (“Mianning Maoyuan”),
from an independent third party for a cash consideration
of RMB380,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$468,557,000). Mianning Maoyuan operates a rare
earth refinery plant located in Sichuan Province, the PRC
and is principally engaged in the refinery and processing
of rare earth elements into products which have broad
applications in industrial and consumer related industries
including high-technology and green energy. The
acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition
method of accounting.

Details of aggregate net assets acquired and goodwill
arising on the acquisition were as follows:

Net assets acquired:
Property, plant and equipment

(Note 15) (HtiE15)
Land use rights (Note 17) T E R (A E17)
Intangible asset (Note 19) mEEE (K:E19)

Inventories rE
Other receivables H {th & KT8
Cash and cash equivalents

Trade payables e 8 5 BR1A
Other payables H &+ BR 18

R B EFE :

HelhReEFRAAR

Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

34. B KB 1 F

RZE——F+ZA=Z+hNB &K%
Bk MBI E = AR KREErR M
EREBRARZ90%KE - Z A A
EERBEREEZERERIRBEARA
F(TR2EXR])600%0MKE  REREB
A A R#380,000,0007T (4 # & R
468,557,000 7T) - B EXKIREF
M EEEHERMIR TERSE
BT EROFEMT  YEZEANRT
XRBEBEERBATE  BERBMER
HerR REBBCEBAKRESR
ENER o

eBRWEMKBZEEEFERESE
ZEBFHRBWT

Acquirees’

fair value at

acquisition date
wEBITRBBEBZATE
HK$'000

TR

107,357
5,473
547,472
22,768
10,847
79
(19,769)
(124,155)

550,072

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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&

EZE-ZFZHA=T-BLEFE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

3. WEEKHI B R (&)

Acquirees’
fair value at
acquisition date

WUBAIRBBEHZATE
HK$' 000
FHT
Goodwill arising on acquisition: WBEEZEHE:

Purchase consideration settled in cash Lz(fﬁﬁ,i*khzﬁ%/aﬁfﬁ 468,557
Add: Non-controlling interests o FEERRE AR 253,051
Less: Net assets acquired WSz BEFEE 550,072
Goodwill (Note 18) B (Kt 18) 171,536

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEEEX B SR FHE
Cash consideration HeKE 468,557
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired 3 : WIEZ R RIF £ EFEEA 79

The Goodwill arising on the acquisition of Mianning
Maoyuan is attributable to the immense development
potentials in rare earth processing business in China
which will benefit from the Chinese government's policies
in recent years to consolidate the industry and restrict
output.

The non-controlling interests recognised at the acquisition
date was measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition related costs paid in 2012 of approximately
HK$5,179,000 have been included in administrative
expenses in the consolidated income statement.

The acquired subsidiaries contributed approximately
HK$6,000 to the Group’s turnover and approximately
HK$12,313,000 loss to the Group's loss attributable to
shareholders of the Company for the period from the date
of acquisition to 31 March 2012.

If the above acquired businesses had occurred on
1 April 2011, the Group's turnover would have been
approximately HK$28,769,000 and loss for the year
ended 31 March 2012 would have been approximately
HK$64,566,000.
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468,478

WEZEXRMEEZHEREFTE
MIMIEBZEREREN  BF
TEXBRFERMIFZERA R
REIEEHHEK -

RULHE B B P aR 2 FE PR A A 25 T5 A
FEE IS 25 4% L 1) B M B A WS O AT
RBEEFEZCERSREITE -

KT ——FFX 2 BB KA
#15,179,0008 L E 5T AfR & ek
ZITHER -

A EHRHEE " ——F=A4
=+—HLEHE KRBRNEBARA
AEB L EEEEX6,0008 TR AR
AR R E(L A B 2R 4912,313,000
ETTE 18 °

i L FTNBEBRER T ——F
MA—HEE  AIASEZEX£BE
& & #4)28,769,000/8 L ' MEZE ==

——FZA=t—HULEFEZEES
& & #4964,566,0007% TT °



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35.DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 21 January, 2011, the Group disposed of a
subsidiary, Beijing Yo Luan Property Development
Company Limited which was engaged in the 1st
level of development project at Yang Jia Yuen Village,
Huai Ro Town, Huai Ro District, Beijing, the PRC
for a total cash consideration of RMB38,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$44,659,000). The
consideration consisted of RMB3,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$3,526,000) for disposal of sale

Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

35. HE— BB LA

R-—_EBE——H—HF=-+—H8 K&
AR & R E AR #38,000,0007T
(#4910 & 144,659,000/ 7T) H & —
HRBARItRABEWERES
RAod HEEPBRIUEITTERRE
BXESBRENO—KFEREER -
REBIEHE AR3000,0007T (4
& 13,526,000/ 7T) i &S K5

HE A R %35 000,000 (49 R

shares and RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$41,133,000) for disposal of sale loan.

The net liabilities at the date of disposal:

Property, plant and equipment (Note 15)
Other receivables and prepayments

Bank balances and cash

Amount due to a holding company
Other payables and accruals

Net liabilities
Less: Sale loan

Net liabilities

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary:

Cash consideration

Net liabilities disposed of

Cumulative exchange differences in
respect of the net liabilities of
the subsidiary reclassified from equity
to profit or loss on disposal (Note 13)

Gain on disposal (Note 7)

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:

Cash consideration
Bank balances and cash disposed of

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary

approximately 41,133,000 7T) HEE

=
N

REEEHz2EEE:
HK$' 000
T&E T
Y - BB REE (HiE15) 154
H b e W F0E & FE A R 323
RITEBRRIE S 177
FERT AR A BIFRIB (41,133)
Hh e RIE K FERT B A (6,487)
FEE (46,966)
B HEER (41,133)
FEE (5,833)
HERBAR2WE :
HERE 44,659
HLEZFEE 5,833
WEBARZ FEaERHERHA
ERENOBEREEER
2 E2ER =58 (fit13)
(1,568)
HEWEs (HaE7) 48,924
HEEA2BERAFE
HeNKE 44,659
HEZRITEKREE S (177)
HEMNBAREGH RS
IR ERHEERRAFRE 44,482
D Bl E % B B R 2 3 201246H
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
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35.DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

The subsidiary disposed of during the year ended
31 March 2011 contributed approximately HK$Nil
to the Group’s turnover and loss of approximately
HK$5,409,000 to the Group's loss from operations for the
year ended 31 March 2011.

36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At 31 March 2012, the Group had capital commitments
contracted for but not provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of the purchase of plant
and machinery amounting to approximately HK$678,000.

At 31 March 2011, the Group had no significant capital
commitments.

The Company had no significant capital commitments at
both balance sheet dates.

37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) At 31 March 2012, the Company had given
guarantees to two lenders in respect of other
borrowings utilised by a subsidiary to an extent of
RMB256,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$315,193,000) (2011: HK$Nil). The directors do
not consider it probable that a claim will be made
against the Company under any of the guarantees.
The maximum liability of the Company at 31 March
2012 under the guarantees by the Company is the
aggregate amount of the borrowings drawn down by
the subsidiary. In the opinion of the directors, the fair
value of these guarantees is not significant.

(b) The Company had contingent liabilities in respect of
financial support given to certain subsidiaries which
have capital deficiencies to allow them to continue as
a going concern and to meet their liabilities as and
when they fall due.

(c) Other than those mentioned in (a) above, the Group

had no other significant contingent liabilities as at
both balance sheet dates.
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HE—FENEQ7 @)
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EARFHEZHBARAASE 2&
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

The Group made minimum lease payments of
approximately HK$4,918,000 (2011: HK$6,547,000)
under operating leases in respect of office premises
during the year.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
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3. REMOZH

FEEEREEA
AEEFARBUASFEY XS]
VZEERNELRERENK
#14,918,0008 L (=T — —F :
6,547,000/ 7T) °

REER  AEEARTAIHELE
HAOAERKZEBEONR  BOE
m eI

THE GROUP
rEE

2012 2011
—F-=F —T——F
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FHET FAET
Within one year —F R 2,731 3,213
In the second to fifth year inclusive HF_FZFRF(RIEEEMTE) 116 518
2,847 3,731

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable
by the Group for certain of its office premises and
warehouses. Leases are negotiated and fixed for an
average term of one to three years.

REBONFEAERERESETRF

BOELRRERMN 2HEE - B FH

BER—E=F°

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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38. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

(continued)

The Group as lessor

At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments
for future lease receipts under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

38. LN ZH (&)

rEBERABEA

REER  AEBZRTAIRHELER
HWERERARSZERS KR BOER
FHIUOT -

THE GROUP
rEE

2012 2011
—E——%F —E——4F
HK$'000 HK$' 000
FHERT FHET
Within one year —FR - 317
In the second to fifth year inclusive HF-_FEZEFERF(BEEEMTF) - 47
- 364

Operating lease receipts represented rentals receivable by
the Group for letting of its properties held for sale. Leases
were negotiated and fixed for an average term of one to
three years.

The Company had no outstanding commitments under

non-cancellable operating leases at both balance sheet
dates.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. B # b E
(a) Financial instruments by categories (a) RENESZEWMIA
The accounting policies for financial instruments have HEARTISEMKE TR 225
been applied to the line items below: BRI
THE GROUP AEE
Financial

assets at fair
Loans and  value through

receivables  profit or loss Total
BATE
ERK FARE
FE iR IR ZERMEE By
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
TER TERr TET
Assets as per consolidated RGEREERER
balance sheet ZEE
At 31 March 2012 RZB-Z§ZA=+-H
Trade and other receivables W E 5 R H M ERE
(excluding prepayments) (TEEBEMNRIE) 30,268 - 30,268
Financial assets at fair value BRATEFARRZ
through profit or loss (Note 24) SREEWit24) - 39,606 39,606
Cash and cash equivalents RekHeSHER
(Note 25) (Hi#£25) 18,774 - 18,774
Total kS 49,042 39,606 88,648
At 31 March 2011 R-B2--%¥=ZA=t-H
Trade and other receivables EWE S KA RE
(excluding prepayments) (TEEBRMNRIE) 35,118 - 35,118
Financial assets at fair value BATEFABRL
through profit or loss (Note 24) SREE (Wi24) - 5,522 5,522
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeFHER
(Note 25) (H1i225) 19,757 - 19,757
Total B 54,875 5,522 60,397

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Financial instruments by categories (continued)

Liabilities as per consolidated balance sheet

At 31 March 2012

Trade and other payables
(excluding advance receipts)

Amount due to a non-controlling

shareholder of a subsidiary (Note 27)
Bank and other borrowings (Note 28)

Convertible note (Note 29)

Total

At 31 March 2011

Trade and other payables (Note 26)

Amount due to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary (Note 27)

Bank and other borrowings (Note 28)

Total

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2012

39. Bt IR B B ()

(a) REREDZEMI A (E)

Financial

liabilities measured

REBHRATERN
BKaE
HK$'000
FHET
RGEGEEERBRZERE
R-ZEB—Z-—F=HA=+—H
ERTE 5 Rk H AR
(T BEEBERFE) 161,527
FEATBT B A R IEIERR AR R 2
IB (KiE27) 20,330
RITREMEE (#17728) 434,714
AR R (A7 2229) 88,848

R-B——F=H=+—H
ENE S REAMRIE (K:226)
PRI B A B FEIE AR AR 3R
KIB (Hit27)
IRITREAMEE (H7£28)

T

at amortised cost

705,419

59,056

20,827
9,501

89,384
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Financial instruments by categories (continued)

THE COMPANY

Assets as per balance sheet

At 31 March 2012

Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note 20)
Other receivables (excluding prepayments)
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25)

Total

At 31 March 2011

Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note 20)
Other receivables (excluding prepayments)
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25)

Total

Liabilities as per balance sheet

At 31 March 2012

Amounts due to subsidiaries (Note 20)
Other payables (Note 26)

Convertible note (Note 29)

Total

At 31 March 2011
Amounts due to subsidiaries (Note 20)
Other payables (Note 26)

Total

Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

39. (IR B B ()

(a) REFE D ZEMI A (E)

/'\E
AR Loans and
receivables
EXREEWRE
HK$"000
FAT
REEEBRZEE

R-ZEBE—Z-—HF£=HA=+—H

JE W BT B & B SR IE (M1 7720) 250,925

H e U R IE (T BHEFAN FKIR) 60

Be RS EREEE (M:425) 6,611
438 257,596
R-ZEBE——F=A=+—H

JE U Bt /B A B) FRIE (A7 7£20) 233,359

H Y R IR (MBI FA N FRIR) 37

BeRBLEWEE (#iF25) 508
R 233 904
Financial
liabilities measured
at amortised cost
REBHERATTERN
g =R
HK$' 000
TH&E T
NEEEBERZAER
R=-FB——-%£=H=+—H
JE 1< BT /8 A BRI FRIE (A7 2220) 55,277
E e ERTE (H72726) 8,348
Al AR =R (K1 2229) 88,848
FREE] 152,473
R=ZB-——%=A=+—H
JE A5} B /BB A ) FR B (A7 7£20) 148,694
H {th fE 5 BR I8 (K77 26) 9,622
4a%H

158,316

b B Ofil KB B R 2 T 2012F#%K
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&

F-T—

“HEZRA=+t—-BLFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange
risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk arising in the normal course of its
business and financial instruments. The Group's risk
management objectives and policies mainly focus on
minimizing the potential adverse effects of these risks
on the Group by closely monitoring the individual
exposure as follows:

(1) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss due
to adverse movements in foreign exchange
rates relating to investments denominated
in foreign currencies. The Group's assets
and liabilities are primarily denominated
in Hong Kong dollars. When seeking to
optimise the returns on its funds available
for investments, the Group has certain
investments in foreign operations, whose
net assets are exposed to foreign currency
translation risk.

At 31 March 2012, if Hong Kong dollars
had strengthened/weakened by 10%
against the RMB, with all other variable
held constant, equity would have been
approximately HK$33,681,000 (2011:
HK$10,605,000), lower or higher.
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39. Bt IR B B ()

(b) BHEBEE
AEBZ ZHEH S BRBRER
migER (BEIMNERRE - XK
pRERAR)  EERR - AR
—REBBELERIAEEZ
nBELRAR AKERRERE
BERBRREBREFTREBEY]
EEA TN 2@ERRER - BIELSE
RERSAEE 2 BETRZE

(1) mHER
() SMERR

SN L ez 15 R A SIS S
ERB s REZER
PE & 3R 1 A B ) 8
AR ZBERER - KAE
BrEERBEIEN
BILAEREN - WA
REHAIREES 2 M
BEHRE AEER
BOMEBIELE TR
B HEEFEAAR
SNEE R E R o

N_ZFE— —ZF = H
=+—H WETEA
R¥FAEBZEI10%
mMEMMAEES8GER
N B RE S R A K
1IN #) /33,681,000
BT(ZF——F:
10,605,000/ 7T ) °
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continved)  39. B & B i B2 (&)

(b) Financial risk factors (continued) (b) MBEEBER (&)
(1) Market risk (continued) (1) T5mEE (&)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued) (i) SNERR (&)

The sensitivity analysis has been
determined assuming that the change in
foreign exchange rates had occurred at the
balance sheet date and had been applied
to each of the Group entities’ exposure to
currency risk for financial instruments in
existence at that date, and that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain
constant. The changes in foreign exchange
rate represent management’'s assessment
of a reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rate at that date over the period
until the next annual balance sheet date.

Results of the analysis as presented in
above represent an aggregation of the
effects on each of the Group entities’
profit or loss and equity measured in the
respective functional currencies, translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rate ruling at the balance sheet date for
presentation purposes. The analysis is
prepared on the same basis for 2011.

b B il K E B R 2T

BB 4T D BB
SNEERBLEREE
%4 WERZEE
AREBGEL &£
ERFESRIANE
EER - FEBERA
e S ACHES LD
R E - SNEERS
BENZABEET— M@
FEAHB NN E
28 54 EA AT g
B 2 T -

I

Pz amERTDIEE
BEERGEMNIEER

3P ER E (IR
24 KB E - T
GHEE 2 EXEN BB
SIESTIMR) 2 M7 -
—E——E AR

LE/\HH% °

2012 %



150

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R 3R B &

For the year ended 31 March 2012

&

B22E—

“HEZRA=+t—-BLFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Financial risk factors (continued)

(1) Market risk (continued)
(i) Interest rate risk

Except for cash and cash equivalents, the
Group has no other significant interest-
bearing assets. The Group's income and
operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest
rates. Management does not anticipate
significant impact on interest-bearing assets
resulted from the changes in interest rates
because the interest rates of bank deposits
are not expected to change significantly.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
interest rate arising from the Group's bank
borrowing denominated in RMB.

Bank borrowing at floating interest rates
exposes the Group to cash flow interest-rate
risk. Details of the Group's bank borrowing
have been disclosed in Note 28.

The Group has not used any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk. In order to manage the cash
flow interest rate risk, the Group will repay
the corresponding borrowing when it has
surplus funds.

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to
interest rates for the floating rate bank
borrowings at the balance sheet date. For
floating rate bank borrowings, the analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of liabilities
outstanding at the balance sheet date was
outstanding for the whole year.

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2012

9. MBEMEE &)

(b) HHERBREE (&)
(1) m5mEbE (&)
(i) FIERR

GHRENMREEFRRAR
Sh - NEEY BEERE
kzwméﬁ $$H

GOl PN E S

%KLTxm%ﬂik
BT E-EEEL
ﬁ%ﬂT”@Aﬁwg
BEEELEARR
I%ﬁ%ﬁ Tmﬂ+

AEBZREEREMNEK
HMEK%¢F$EI

RARBLSE

%%FEZﬂT&@

FEAERBITEEER
SEmEHEARENE
Bk BRAANSEERIT
F“)‘ HE BERWE

28 ©

ZNEE i BvAER DR
4 B DA S R P A 2
MERER - RE
MENXER -
HEBRBRESZEN
TEEMEEES

AT SERED T IIRE
m#E%%ﬁﬂFEZ
MERBRETE -
RITBEMS - 2
BRNGEERZRER
BERBEFEHRE

BEmAms -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Financial risk factors (continued)
(1) Market risk (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Interest rate risk (continued)

At 31 March 2012, if interest rates on
floating rate bank borrowing had been 25
basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, loss for the year
would have been approximately HK$25,000
(2011: HK$24,000) higher/lower, mainly
as a result of higher/lower interest expense
on floating rate bank borrowing.

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared
with the assumption that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the balance
sheet date and had been applied to the
exposure to interest rate risk for the relevant
financial instruments in existence at that
date. The changes in interest rates represent
management’'s assessment of reasonably
possible changes in interest rates at that
date over the period until the next annual
balance sheet date. The analysis is prepared
on the same basis for 2011.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities
price risk for the equity investments held by
the Group which are classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Majority of the Group's equity securities are
listed on the Stock Exchange and are valued
at quoted market prices as at the balance
sheet date. The Group is not exposed to
commodity price risk.

Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

39. i AR EE ()

(b) BBRABER (&)
(1) T5EE (&)

(i) AEEP (&)
RNR=—_T — =€ = A
=+—8  WZERT
BEMERS FBIE25
2 P E 2 EUR
BA® AIAFEEE
1% 18 0,8 4> 925,000
BT (ZFE——F:
24,000/7T) * EEEHMH
RFBIRITERZFE
MR e

BRE DT ERRR
NEXBBHEREFHE
Emme WERZHE
ERREREFE M
Mem T AMIHNERA
o M REFHIENZH
REET - EAFELE
BzHER EEE5
MEEEAREZ BB E
2 b - Z I T3 1R
—E-—FHREER

%o

(i) B =B
AEBRBEIERRE
ANFEEFABERZ SR
BEMRAEFEHRESE -
ﬁﬁﬁak$ H BB

cAREBIZREH
hK 55 B 2T E
M- WKEER 25
EREE AEEEYS
R mEEE R o
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Financial risk factors (continued)

(1) Market risk (continued)
(iii) Price risk (continued)

Listed investments held in the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss
portfolio have been chosen taking reference
to their long term growth potential and
returns and are monitored regularly for
performance. Given that the volatility of
the stock markets may not have a direct
correlation with the Group's investment
portfolio, it is impractical to determine the
impact that the changes in stock market
indices would have on the Group's portfolio
of equity investments.

At 31 March 2012, it is estimated that an
increase/a decrease of 10% in the market
value of the Group's financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, with all other
variables held constant, loss for the year
would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$3,961,000 (2011: HK$552,000). The
stated changes represent management's
assessment of reasonably possible
changes in the market value of the Group's
investment portfolio over the period until
the next annual balance sheet date. The
analysis is prepared on the same basis for
2011.

The Company is exposed to other price risk
in respect of investments in subsidiaries.
The sensitivity to price risk in relation to
the investments in subsidiaries cannot
be reliably determined due to numerous
uncertainties regarding the future
development of these subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Financial risk factors (continued)
(2) Credit risk

3)

The Group's credit risk is principally attributable
to trade and other receivables and bank
balances. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk. It has policies in
place to ensure that sales of products are made
and services are provided to customers with an
appropriate credit history. The customer with
sound payment history would accumulate a
higher credit limit.

Further quantitative disclosure in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade
and other receivables are set out in Note 23.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high quality external credit ratings in Hong
Kong and the PRC.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group
are responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to approval
by the parent company's board when the
borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels
of authority. Prudent liquidity risk management
implies maintaining sufficient cash and
marketable securities, the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. The Group aims to maintain flexibility
in funding by keeping credit facilities and
other borrowings available and sufficient bank
deposits to meet short and long term funding
requirements.
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HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 39. Bt IR B B ()

(b) Financial risk factors (continued) (b) BMKREKMEZ (&)
(3) Liquidity risk (continued) (3) nBELEE (&)
The following amounts are the contractual THFERAEENRXFH
undiscounted cash flow payments of the Group's HEZEECUWBAEE (B
financial liabilities (including interest elements) FLEAD) BHIFERRRE X
at the earliest dates the Group requires to pay. t o

Contractual undiscounted cash outflows

SNERRRER

More than ~ More than

Within one year two years

one year but less but less

Carrying oron than two than five
amount demand years years Total

k! BB-F BBME
KEE REX BORWE EIRIE @zt

HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
L i BT BT T

At 31 March 2012 R=E-Z£=f=1-H
Trade and other payables ENESREMKE 165,134 165,134 - - 165,134
Amount due to a non-controlling  FEFTH B 2 RIFEFR AR

shareholder of a subsidiary ET 20,330 - 20,330 - 20,330
Bank and other borrowings RAREMES 434714 48,410 462,969 - 511,379
Convertible note TERER 88,848 1,050 1,050 106,050 108,150
Total @it 709,026 214,594 484,349 106,050 804,993
At 31 March 2011 R=E--£=f=1-H
Trade and other payables ERESREMEE 59,056 59,056 = = 59,056
Amount due to a non-controling  FEf i B /2 &) 3 2R

shareholder of a subsidiary RREFE 20,827 20,827 - - 20,827
Bank and other borrowings RAREMES 9,501 = 10,585 = 10,585
Total B3 89,384 79,883 10,585 - 90,468
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Capital risk management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors
its capital structure on the basis of a net debt-to-
adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose the Group
defines net debt as total debt (which include trade
and other payables, bank and other borrowings and
convertible note) less cash and cash equivalents.
Adjusted capital comprises all components of
equity. The Group's policy is to keep that ratio at a
reasonable level.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 39. Bt IR B B ()

(c) Capital risk management (continued) (c) EXREMEIE(EZ)
R_E——_FER_ZF——F=H
St HBZEBREFREKLARE

The net debt-to-adjusted capital ratios at 31 March
2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Trade and other payables JERTE 5 K H A BRIA

Amount due to a non-controlling &1 [} /& 2 & 3% A%
shareholder of a subsidiary IR FRIA

Bank and other borrowings RITRHEMEES

Convertible note — liability REREE -8 E&NHN
component

Total debt [ETEGE

Less: Cash and cash equivalents J&f - & &R & EFEIEE
Net debt BEXFE

Adjusted capital — Total equity EFHBER - ERBTE

Net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio BB FREELEHBE R 2L

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to either internally or externally imposed
capital requirements.
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Kz &EE:
2012 2011
s —E——4F
HK$'000 HK$' 000
FET T& T
165,134 59,056
20,330 20,827
434,714 9,501
88,848 =
709,026 89,384
18,774 19,757
690,252 69,627
360,413 105,142
= 192% 66%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

(e

Fair values

The carrying value of financial instruments measured
at fair value at the balance sheet date across the
three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in
HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, with the
fair value of each financial instrument categorised in
its entirety based on the lowest level of input that is
significant to that fair value adjustment.

Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical financial instruments.

Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices
in active markets for similar financial instruments,
or using valuation techniques in which all significant
inputs are directly or indirectly based on observable
market data.

Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using
valuation techniques in which any significant input is
not based on observable market data.

At 31 March 2012, the only financial instruments
measured at fair value of the Group are financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss amounting
to HK$39,606,000 (201 1: HK$5,522,000) and were
classified as level 1.

Estimation of fair values

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is based on quoted market prices at
the balance sheet date without any deduction for
transaction costs.

The carrying values less allowance for impairment
of current receivables and of current payables are
a reasonable approximation of their fair values.
Estimated discounted cash flows at the current
market interest rate are used to determine fair value
for all these financial instruments (i.e. Level 3 —
lowest level).
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
HE-Z-—FZAZ+-HLFE

40.TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH
RELATED PARTIES

During the vyear, the Group had significant transactions
with the following related parties, together with balances
with them as at the balance sheet date, details of which
are as follows:

2012 2011
—E--F —ZE——%
HK$’000 HK$' 000
TET FHET
Key management compensation AEBEFEZEBTEAER
of the Group: M
Salaries and other short-term o RkEAREH
employee benefits EERA 979 2,473
Director: 55
Amount due from the Group JE W 7K &= B R IE - 3,600
Substantial shareholder: FERR
Subscription of convertible note REB AR TZR (A 5229)
(Note 29) 105,000 -
Interest on convertible note MR RE 2 ME (#77F29)
(Note 29) 478 _
A company controlled by a BEZERFREH A
substantial shareholder HmEE (/17/7/?1”28)
Other borrowing (Note 28) 56,636 -

Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant
transactions with related parties during the year or
significant balances with them at the end of the year.

The balance due to a director is unsecured, interest free

and has no fixed term of repayment. The amount has
been settled during the year.
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42.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the "MPF Scheme") for all employees in Hong Kong. The
MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of an independent trustee.

Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions
at 5% of relevant payroll costs to the scheme, which
contribution is matched by employees. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to
make the required contributions under the scheme. The
contributions arising from the MPF Scheme charged to the
consolidated income statement represent contributions
payable to the fund by the Group at rates specified in the
rules of the scheme. No forfeited contribution is available
to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

The employees in the subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of state-managed retirement benefits schemes
operated by the PRC government. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

LITIGATIONS

On 24 October 2007, Silver Wind International Limited
("Silver Wind"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a conditional agreement (the
“Acquisition Agreement”) with Stronway Development
Limited (“Stronway Development”), pursuant to
which Silver Wind agreed to acquire from Stronway
Development the entire equity interest in Winmax
Asia Investment Limited (“Winmax Asia”). Under the
arrangement, Winmax Asia will in turn acquire the entire
equity interest in Beijing Jianxing Real Estate Development
Co. (“Jianxing”) along with Jianxing's standalone villas
development project in Beijing known as “¥127EE".
The aggregate consideration payable for the acquisition
was RMB433,000,000 which was to be settled in cash,
and two villas. In December 2007, RMB20,000,000
was paid under the Acquisition Agreement to Stronway
Development by Silver Wind as deposit (the “Deposit”).
Details of the acquisition are set out in the Company’s
circular dated 14 December 2007.

41.

42.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
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For the year ended 31 March 2012
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42.

43.

LITIGATIONS (continued)

In April 2008, on the grounds, amongst other things,
that the subject matter under the Acquisition Agreement
was frustrated, Silver Wind decided to terminate
the Acquisition Agreement and, through its legal
representative has served a notice of termination to
Stronway Development. In order to protect the position
of Silver Wind and to recover, amongst other things, the
Deposit from Stronway Development legal proceedings
were instigated against Stronway Development on this
matter in the High Court of Hong Kong on 15 April 2008.

In the opinion of the directors, the probability of recovery
of the deposit could not be ascertained and hence full
amount had been directly written off in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008.
As at the date of this report, the legal proceedings against
Stronway Development are still pending and there is no
significant development.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31
March 2012 are as follows:

42.

43.

EENE D)

RZZTZENFMA ER(HFBHE)
W B 2 IRE) R IA KR - Silver
Wind)R 7 42 1E W BB o - IO i@ HDK
2R & AIStronway Developmentix i
RIERAE o BIRESilver Wind .z Fz
X [A1Stronway Developmenti& 51 (H &
BIE) %L & Silver WindiR ZZ T\
FUA+HEEREEREERE AR
¥fStronway Development/® B A2 2
o

EERR/AEBEARATREZES 2
ARl BEEBHZE_ZEZENEF=
AZ+—BLEFEZHEMBRE
BEEZEME NARERH st
Stronway DevelopmentZ k72 %2 Fr 1
R BWEERNERE -

TEMBRAAFR

R_F—Z—F=HA=+—H ' xAF
ZIEMBRAAFBET

issued share Effective
Paid up  capital/registered proportion
Place of share capital/  capital held by of issued
incorporation/ registered  the Company?/ capital held
Name of subsidiary registration capital subsidiaries by the Group Principal activities
ARE/ KR
RAMKERT AREE
AL/ BRRE/ RA& /G BRTRA
WELRER sk A& EAEELA BRLA IEXE
% Y%
Captain Shore Limited BV, Uss1 100* 100 Securities trading
RBRELES 1£7 E5EE
Full Champion Financial Limited BV.. Us$3 100* 100 Securities trading
EBRUES 3ET BHEE
New Team Limited BV.. USS$1 100* 100 Investment holding
ZBRUES 1% REER
Power Rise International Limited BV.. INY 100* 100 Securities trading
RBRUEE 1% BHEE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name of subsidiary

HEARER

Prosper City International Limited

EEARARAA

FEERERERAA
(Shanghai Hualong
Construction Co. Ltd.)

Sun Spread Group Limited
AREEARAA

Super Target Limited

Top Field Technology Limited
BENRARAT

Unique Gold Investments Limited

BTREARAA

China Gamma Group
(Hong Kong) Limited
HEMBRE(RE) ARAT

ERBRRHEREAERAR
(Chongging Sunrise Property
Development Company Limited)

ERRLGEXERALLT
(Chongging Feng Hong Ji
Enterprise Company Limited)

HEMREHERRIARAT
(Zibo Liyuan Gamma Ray
Technologies Co. Limited)

Place of
incorporation/
registration

AL/
ERUEE]

Hong Kong
B

the PRC
hE

Hong Kong
Bk

BV,
RBRAEE

Hong Kong
Bk

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B

the PRC
i

the PRC
hE

the PRC
G

Paid up
share capital/
registered
capital

SERE/
EREA

HK$100
10047

US$11,080,000
11,080,000% T

HK$1
18T
Uss1
EFH
HK$1
AT
HK$1
187

HKS1
AT

RMB20,000,000
AR 20,000,000

RMB10,000,000
AE%10,000,00070

RMB29,000,000
AR #%29,000,0007

Bt 5 ¥R R MY RE

For the year ended 31 March 2012

BE_Z—

—HEZRA=+t-BLFE

3. T EMRB A RIFEE (&)

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued share
capital/registered
capital held by
the Company?*/
subsidiaries
ALR/ KR
RAMKEER
RA /&M
EXEELA

Y%

51

51

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

80

Effective
proportion
of issued
capital held
by the Group
AREAH
BRTRA
BRLLA

%

51

51

100

100

100

100

100

80

o % £ B & R 2 3

Principal activities

IERE

Trading of building
materials and provision
of renovation service

BEMHESR
REKERE

Property development
and sales

NERERHE

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding

REZRK

Investment holding

RAZK

Investment holding

REZK

Investment holding
REER

Property investment

Property development

YES

Gamma ray irradiation
Services

M35 5T 4R AT IR A
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BE_Z

43.

44,

= _

“HEZRA=+t—-BLFE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

43

EZEMBATRFE#E)

Proportion of
nominal value of

issued share Effective
Paid up  capital/registered proportion
Place of share capital/ ~ capital held by of issued
incorporation/ registered  the Company*/ capital held
Name of subsidiary registration capital subsidiaries by the Group Principal activities
ARE/ KR
NERBERS AEBE
2L/ BRRE/ RA& /R BRIRE
WEARER bk ZMER EXEELA BB LA IEXH
Y% Y%
EHNERRAT] the PRC RMB10,000,000 90 90 Investment holding
(Yunnan He Da Investments i AK%10,000,0007 REER
Company Limited)
EEERRRLHRARAR the PRC RMB20,000,000 60 54 Rare earth refinery
(Mianning Mao Yuan Rare Earth G AR 20,000,000 and processing business

Technology Company Limited)

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during
the year. The above table includes the subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results of the year or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform to the current year's presentation. In order to
present the consolidated statement of cash flows more
appropriately, cash flows arising from the purchase and
sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are both classified as operating activities instead of being
classified separately as investing activities and operating
activities. For better presentation of the Company's
balance sheet, the amounts due to subsidiaries are
presented under non-current liabilities instead of
being presented as a net amount in the interests in
subsidiaries (Note 20) under non-current assets. These
reclassifications have no effect on the Group's results and
the financial position of the Group and the Company for
the current and prior years.

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2012
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METAEHES LRXEBREFRA
REARGEEARFEXREBREATE
IR AEEZEEFETIERERL
EZARREIMNBAR - EERBFT
HfiB AR ZENE<SRERER -

EERBF

ETUEHFTELETDE  UFE
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RESULTS

Turnover

Loss attributable to
equity shareholders of
the Company

S

EN/NIL” 32
I R e 1R
B8

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets

Total liabilities

Net assets

Non-controlling interests

AES
e

BEFE

FEPE AR R 2

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MBHE
For the year ended 31 March
BE-ZA=t—HLFE
2008 2009 2010 20711 2012
—TENF _ZETNF _T-TF _T——F ZB—=F
HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$"'000 HK$"000
FHET TET FET FHET FTERT
8,410 3,902 3,762 30,473 26,726
(99,379)  (78,812)  (51,194)  (29,203)  (56,198)
EEREE
As at 31 March
R=A=+—8H
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
—ETENF ZTENF ZTFTF _T——F ZFB-=F
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET THET
284,182 195,016 176,855 204,748 1,077,098
75,567 64,611 67,698 99,606 716,685
208,615 130,405 109,157 105,142 360,413
= = 6,615 4,836 249,276
& fin 3™ & B R 22 3 20125#%
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PARTICULARS OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

TENEFR

Particulars of major properties held by the Group at 31 March

2012 are as follows:

MAJOR PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Location

it

Phase Ill of Phoenix Town
located at No.500 Hongjin Avenue,
Yubei District, Chongging, the PRC
o B & B T )0 46 [ AT 87 A B 5005%
Bl /2L 395 3 A

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2012

Intended
use

BERZR

Property
development

EGE:S

AEER—_ZE——F=A=+—HFEEZ
FTEMEFBOT :

FTERBPYE

Site The Group's

area effective interest
ith 88 AR AEBEZERER
5,802.60 sg.m. 100%

5,802.60F 75
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